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President and 
Chairman’s 
Report

ON BEHALF OF THE RACV 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS, I 
AM PLEASED TO PRESENT 
MY REPORT FOR THE 
2019–2020 FINANCIAL 
YEAR. THIS IS MY FIRST 
YEAR AS PRESIDENT AND 
CHAIRMAN OF RACV AND 
IT HAS BEEN ONE OF THE 
MOST CHALLENGING IN 
RACV’S 117-YEAR HISTORY, 
AND WITH THE COVID-19 
SITUATION ROLLING 
FORWARD, 2020-2021 
IS LIKELY TO BE JUST AS 
DIFFICULT. I AM PLEASED TO 
BE ABLE TO OUTLINE SOME 
OF THE OUTSTANDING 
WORK WHICH HAS BEEN 
DELIVERED THROUGH 
THESE TIMES. 

Like all businesses, our financial results are the outcome of a year 
of two halves. In the first half of FY20, all areas of the business 
were continuing to grow strongly but obviously the second half 
has seen the twin challenges of the devastating bushfires and 
now the ongoing issues presented by managing a very uncertain 
environment created by COVID-19. We also had major hail events 
in the first quarter of 2020 which caused significant challenges 
for our Insurance business. As outlined later in this report, and 
in the MD and CEO’s section, the organisation has responded 
superbly to all these challenges, and delivered a great deal of 
strategic progress which would have been welcome in a normal 
year, which this has obviously not been. 

The strategy we are following of building a large Home business, 
whilst at the same time investing appropriately in our long-
standing Motoring and Leisure assets to deliver improved 
Member and financial outcomes, has been tested; but the results 
we have seen have once again validated this. Investments we 
made in prior years, and in the first part of FY20, have served us 
well. Notably, the acquisition of Gippsland Solar in October 2019, 
the roll-out of new Roadside Assist vans and our MEX project 
(Member Experience) to deliver modern customer-facing systems 
to improve the Member Experience have all gone well. In his 
report, the MD and CEO will talk more about how the business 
has responded to all the challenges and successes of FY20.

The Leisure business has of course been severely affected 
by the restrictions placed on it by Government and regrettably 
remains shut at the time of writing. Our Leisure assets remain 
a core part of RACV for the long term and we are confident that 
once we can operate them again, they will continue to offer 
great experiences for everyone to enjoy. How they operate will 
be different and depends entirely on Government restrictions 
through the COVID-19 period, however long this may last. 

Moving away from the difficulties of FY20, 
and in a development which we are all 
very proud of, we now use 100 per cent 
renewable energy at all Victorian-based 
RACV clubs, resorts and office buildings 
after signing a five-year deal with Snowy 
Hydro’s energy retailer Red Energy. The 
agreement will supplement the power 
generated from 3,600 solar panels 
installed on several of RACV’s properties. 
We will continue to invest in renewable 
energy across our own assets and we 
have great aspirations for the RACV 
Solar business.

Financials 
Given all the challenges of the second 
half of FY20, total revenue decreased 
$45.6 million, 6.2 per cent to $687.8 
million. RACV was still able to deliver 
a small after-tax profit of $3.3 million, 
a decrease of $115.2 million over the 
prior year.  Major movements included 
a reduced share of profit from equity 
accounted investments at $63.2 million 
(notably the insurance business where 
results were down due to the bushfires 
and hail events), $39.5 million lower than 
the prior year. 

RACV’s portfolio of financial assets 
recorded a $19.2 million loss compared 
to a $14.4 million gain in the prior year, 
impairment of assets and income 
tax expense were $19.4 million and 
$9.2 million respectively higher than the 
comparative year. Both the prior points 
largely driven by the effect of COVID-19. 

Excluding property assets which were 
acquired during the year, the $895.3 million 
property portfolio (as at 30 June 2020) was 
revalued by $50.2 million, this represented 
a 6.7 per cent increase in value.

Supporting Members
RACV has supported our Members 
who have been experiencing hardship 
via a range of measures that we have 
put in place to assist them. In FY20 
we delivered total Member savings 
of $233 Million including Years of 
Membership benefits and Show your 
Card and Save benefits.

We helped social partner STREAT reduce 
their carbon footprint and improve energy 
efficiencies through the installation of 
118 solar panels at its flagship Cromwell 
Street site, saving 52 tonnes of CO2 
emissions per year. 

We helped several community 
organisations in bushfire-affected 
areas with solar and battery solutions 
for energy resilience. We will do more 
of this in future years. 

We partnered with Midsumma Festival 
in celebration of LGBTQIA+ arts and 
cultures, and Netball Victoria to focus 
on disadvantaged communities in the 
regions and promote better access to 
the sport. 

Importantly, we are supporting mental 
health and personal crisis in the regions, 
through a partnership with Lifeline to 
support Victorians impacted by the 
summer bushfires and COVID-19. We 
will look to expand on this in FY21. 

We invested in a temporary program, 
Emergency Goods Assist, to support 
vulnerable communities impacted by 
COVID-19 with nutritious meals.  And 
we seeded STREAT’s Moving Feast 
program to further aid food security in 
the community.  This has been possible 
by repurposing our retired Emergency 
Roadside Assistance vans to support 
community organisations.

These commitments, rightly adding up 
to many millions of dollars in the year 
that we have all had, are shown in the 
infographics on pages 6 and 7 in this 
annual review. I trust these illustrate 
how RACV is committed to supporting 
all Victorians, in building a better future 
for generations to come. Why? Simply 
because it is the right thing to do. 
Particularly now. 

Supporting Staff
This has been critical through the 
COVID-19 period, which of course 
regrettably continues. We successfully 
managed to retrain and reassign more 
than 100 staff to alternate roles. We have 
enhanced our EAP (Employee Assist 
Programmes), staff have access to 
training through our Lifeline partnership, 
we have rolled out care packages to 
all staff stood-down as the restrictions 
tightened and Managers are regularly 
connecting with team members to help 
with employee wellbeing. 

I would also point out that Senior 
Management have elected not to receive 
elements of their entitlements given the 
challenges being faced by some staff 
and Members. This was without request 
from the Board and despite very long 
hours worked and the ongoing pressures 
of the environment we are operating 
in. They continue to manage all this 
extremely well.

Conclusion 
When I was given the opportunity to be 
the President and Chairman of RACV 
in November 2019, I could never have 
imagined that the first part of my tenure 
would include these extraordinary times. 
However, the way the organisation has 
responded and continues to work through 
everything that has been thrown at it does 
nothing but fill me with pride. 

I wish to thank all Members of the Board, 
Neil Taylor and his Leadership Team, all 
employees of RACV and our Members for 
allowing me the opportunity to serve you 
as President and Chairman of RACV.

Geoffrey O Cosgriff 
President and Chairman
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Managing 
Director and 
CEO’s Report

AS GEOFF HAS OUTLINED, 
THE LAST YEAR HAS, 
DESPITE THE ISSUES, 
SEEN RACV PROGRESS 
IN MANY AREAS.

BEFORE I TALK ABOUT SOME 
OF THESE THOUGH, IT IS 
EVEN MORE IMPORTANT 
THIS YEAR THAN IN PRIOR 
ONES TO EXTEND MY 
SINCERE THANKS TO ALL 
RACV STAFF AND THE MANY 
OTHERS WHO WORK IN A 
NUMBER OF OUR ASSOCIATE 
COMPANIES FOR THE WAY 
THEY HAVE ACCEPTED THE 
CHALLENGES OF THE 
SECOND HALF OF FY20, 
AND THE WAY THEY 
CONTINUE TO RESPOND 
AS MANY OF THESE ISSUES 
ROLL FORWARD. 

To give just a small sense of this, and over calendar year 2020, 
RACV has:

1. Moved all staff to working from home unless involved in 
work which relies on direct contact with Members, such as 
Emergency Roadside Assistance. All staff potentially working 
in close contact with Members are receiving ongoing safety 
training, and we have advanced COVID-19 Safe Plans for all 
activities. We hope that in FY21 we will be able to welcome staff 
back to our offices in some form, but no doubt flexible working 
will remain for some time. However, many staff miss the 
interactions with others in their teams and we hope that we 
will be able to do this again safely in the not too distant future. 
Human beings are social creatures, and we all need to interact 
with others. 

2. Closed, opened and closed all our Victorian Leisure assets. 
We are ready to open again when restrictions ease but will 
be cautious in doing so, as the cost of opening when risk of 
closure again remains is something we will have to pay close 
attention to. The resilience of our staff over this period in the 
Leisure division has been remarkable. We have rolled out 
several support activities for all and are paying ongoing and 
close attention to all aspects of their health and wellbeing. 

3. Closed, opened and closed several other businesses, such 
as our shops. And for all businesses we are involved in, we 
have had to design new operating principles. The diversity 
of RACV’s businesses is one of its strengths, but in these 
remarkable times which we are all living through, this diversity 
has added to the day to day challenges. 

Member Experience
Around three years ago, we made the decision to embark upon 
MEX, the biggest project RACV has ever undertaken. This was a 
move to take all our systems to Cloud Services and a Software as 
a Service (SaaS) model. We completed the first part of the project 
in FY19 with the move to the Cloud for back-end services. Without 
this, we would not have been able to get all staff to a safe working 
from home environment this year. This was achieved for over 
3,000 people in less than two weeks.

We have now gone live with our Member 
facing systems which will, after they are 
embedded in our operations, allow us to 
develop new products faster, improve all 
aspects of Member service and lower 
costs. 

To give a sense of scale:

• This involved the cleaning and 
migration of over 75 million items  
of data

• Preparing and executing over 13,000 
test cases

• Conducting nearly 40,000 hours  
of testing

• Training of over 2,000 staff
• Delivering Go-Live with a fully remote 

workforce
I am incredibly proud of all the people 
involved in this project. Now we have to 
use this world class technology to deliver 
improved experience for all our Members. 

Motor and Home
We have continued to invest in our 
Motoring portfolio. The Repairhub 
business we set up with IAG in FY19 has 
grown very quickly, employing nearly 200 
people already, and more importantly 
has seen us start to improve the repair 
performance of our Motor Insurance 
business. We have done nearly 20,000 
repairs in the first year of operation and 
we expect that this national business will 
do over 130,000 repairs within five years. 
As per the last three years, we have 
continued to grow our Motor Insurance 
business and now have 1.1 million 
Members with this product. 

We rolled out new Emergency Roadside 
Assistance vans with battery capability 
to deliver a one stop offer for Members. 
This project was delivered on time and 
on budget and has already received great 
Member feedback.

The Home business also grew Home 
Insurance Membership, with over 
800,000 policies now held by Members. 
We also delivered on a number of key 
long-term strategic initiatives, notably 
the acquisition of Gippsland Solar and 
its re-branding to RACV Solar. We also 
invested in a couple of new businesses, 
notably Agent Select who exist to help 
you find the right real estate agent by 
comparing their fees and strategies.  
We now have a number of digital 
businesses in which we have significant 
stakes. These are all focused on providing 
services to Members in their homes.  

It is our intention to now work with all 
of them to help build out services for 
Members in two areas; helping Members 
with the buying and selling of a home, and 
increasing delivering of Trades Services 
to the home. 

Both the Motor and Home Insurance 
businesses were affected by the horrific 
bushfire season and then the major hail 
events, but both moved quickly to help 
affected Members via fast resolution 
of claims, hardship and other ex-gratia 
payments. To try and give a sense of 
scale, across NSW and Victoria, through 
IMA, the business we own jointly with 
IAG, we had over $1.2 billion of claims 
covering over 150,000 Members and 
customers. The vast majority of these 
claims have been resolved. In addition 
to this, thousands of Members received 
ex-gratia payments, transportation relief 
and hardship payments. 

Leisure
It was very much a year of two halves 
for the Leisure team. Until Christmas, 
we were on track to deliver a record 
year across all key metrics. Since the 
bushfires, which affected a number of our 
regional properties, but much more so 
since the onset of COVID-19, this division 
of RACV has been and will continue to be 
significantly challenged. 

We have invested in the highest 
standards of safety and cleanliness for 
guests and staff, and look forward to 
being able to operate all assets again. 
However, the COVID-19 situation will 
see the Victorian Leisure assets, at 
the very least, needing to be managed 
and run in a different way. They will still 
offer the highest standards of service, 
but the experiences will obviously be 
different until restrictions relax to a more 
normal level.

The Queensland resorts have continued 
to operate through the AFL contracts we 
were awarded. Having this business was 
a welcome relief to all in the Leisure team. 

Looking forward
Like all of us, I look forward to better times 
ahead. It has become clear that COVID-19 
will likely be with us for some time. As 
such, all of us individually, in business and 
across society must keep adapting to the 
ongoing challenges it will present. 

I am confident that RACV is well 
positioned to manage through these 
ongoing difficulties and we have sought 
to set the business up appropriately to do 
so. However, we will have to keep making 
changes and tough choices as we live 
through the uncertainties of these times.

I am of the firm opinion that human 
beings will find a way through this; 
whether it is through a vaccine, improved 
testing or by getting more comfortable 
living with COVID-19, as we do with many 
other illnesses and problems that life 
throws at us. 

It has been, and will remain, a 
rollercoaster ride of emotions and 
managing difficult situations. The choices 
we make as we continue to go forward 
will often be with imperfect information 
and with great uncertainty, but RACV is a 
strong business with a great future. 

In conclusion, I extend my thanks to our 
dedicated Staff, my Leadership and Board 
colleagues for their continued support 
over the past 12 months. 

Neil Taylor 
Managing Director 
and Chief Executive Officer
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92,800
homes covered by 
Emergency Home Assist 

28,000
Property claims managed 
in Victoria 

Helping 
Victorians

People & Culture

Additional

3.7 
million
calls to RACV’s Melbourne 
based contact centre 
(includes calls to 
Memberline, RAC, 
Motor and Leisure)

$233 
million
in value returned to 
Members through 
Member savings.

Motoring & Mobility

1.6 million
vehicles covered by 
Emergency Roadside Assist

Leisure

2,600
new RACV Club Members 

826,800
Members assisted by ERA

37
enhancements completed to 
improve the Member experience 
across RACV club and resorts

Home

56,100
home emergencies attended 
by Emergency Home Assist 

801,200
Property Insurance policies 

46,000
solar panels (1 million watts) 
installed by RACV Solar

24*
industry 
hospitality 
awards 

314,900
Room nights booked across 
RACV club and resorts 

Over

1.1 million
Motor Insurance policies issued 

Over

100,000 
arevo mobility app downloads  

Switched to 

100%
renewable energy 
at all Victorian-based 
RACV clubs, resorts and 
office buildings after 
signing a five-year deal 
with Snowy Hydro’s energy 
retailer Red Energy. 

$250 
thousand
to seed fund STREAT’s Moving Feast 
initiative movingfeast.net

$2.5 
million
contributed to various bushfire 
relief efforts; including payments 
to Red Cross, Gippsland Relief 
Fund, ex-gratia payments to help 
Members, installation of Solar Power 
to community organisations

ERA Gives Back Offer raised over

$500 
thousand
through Member donations to 
support vulnerable Victorians

2,700 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate  
reduced by more than 5%

employees participated 
in learning programs

$2 million
in funding with IAG to Lifeline 
Australia to provide critical tele-
health services to vulnerable 
Victorian communities 

Each year RACVis required to report on diversity to the Federal WGEA,  
and our report for FY20 was endorsed by the agency as compliant.

Advocacy

1,000
Members participated in 
RACV’s Electric Vehicle 2020 survey

56%
of all promotions were awarded to women

Women hold  45%
of management roles in RACV

RACV’s cycling superhighways 
proposal added to Infrastructure 
Australia’s transport priority list

$5 million
has been contributed to helping 
Members through the COVID-19 
period so far, including:
•  65,000 nutritious meals 

delivered to Victorians impacted 
by COVID-19 through our 
Emergency Goods Assist service 
by end September 2020  

• Hardship payments 
and provisions

• Donations to community 
organisations

RACV’s Fuel Price  
comparison page generated

800,000
visits in 19/20 FY

RACV 
participated in a 
parliamentary inquiry into 
Victoria’s road toll in a bid to 
make Victoria’s roads safer
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Director’s 
Report

The qualifications, experience, special 
responsibilities and other details of the 
directors in office at the date of this 
report are set out on pages 12 to 14.

The number of RACV board and 
committee meetings held during 
the financial year, and each RACV’s 
director’s attendance at those meetings, 
are set out on page 15.

Principal activities, 
objectives and strategies 
The principal activities of the Group 
during the financial year were roadside 
assistance, towing services, social club 
and resort operations, financial services, 
travel and tourism, telematics programs 
and digital traffic services, advocacy, 
home services and the provision and 
distribution of general insurance.

RACV’s objectives are to deliver valued 
benefits to its members and their 
communities by informing and advising 
them, representing members’ interests 
and providing them with assistance 
when in need by delivering excellent 
products and services in our fields of 
motoring, mobility, leisure, assurance, 
financial services, social wellbeing and 
the home.

Strategies used by the Group to deliver 
its objectives are outlined in RACV’s 
strategic statement, which is available 
online at www.racv.com.au

Further details on how the Group’s 
activities assist in achieving the entity’s 
strategic priorities and objectives can be 
found in the President and Chairman’s 
Report and Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer’s Report in the 2020 
Annual Report.

Review of results and 
operations
Information about the Group’s financial 
position and financial results is included 
in the consolidated Financial Statements 
section of the Annual Report. 

A review of the Group’s operations 
and results can be found in the 2020 
Annual Report. The review assesses 
membership, assistance products 
and services, roadside assistance, 
insurance, advocacy, travel, leisure and 
community activities.

COVID-19 Impact
The Group has been impacted by 
COVID-19 in a number of areas, with the 
most significant impacts experienced 
through reductions in club and resorts 
income, subscription income reflecting 
voluntary partial refunds on Roadside 
Assistance products and decreases in 
the carrying value of the equities and 
investment portfolio.

Dividends
In compliance with the Memorandum 
and Articles of Association of RACV 
Limited, no dividend was declared nor 
paid during the financial year.

Subsequent events
RACV Limited entered into a 50-50 
Joint Venture, Home Trades Hub 
Australia (HTHA), with IAG on 31 
August 2020. RACV Limited has sold 
shares of two subsidiaries, Club Home 
Response Pty Ltd and RACV Security 
Pty Ltd, to HTHA as part of this Joint 
Venture arrangement. HTHA will be a 
national business enabling the Group 
to grow the Home division. Initially this 
business will comprise three business 
lines, including home security, home 
insurance repairs and home trades 
and services.

On 30 July 2020, IMA declared the  
final dividend relating to the year ended 
30 June 2020. RACV has received its 
share of this dividend totalling $26.4 
million. The dividend has no impact on 
the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2020.

As the COVID-19 impact continues and 
the future is still unknown, the Group 
expects its operations and results to 
continue to be affected in the new 
financial year.

In the opinion of the directors, there 
are no matters or circumstances which 
have arisen between 30 June 2020 
and the date of this report that have 
significantly affected or may significantly 
affect the operations of the Group, the 
results of those operations and the state 
of affairs of the Group in subsequent 
financial years.

Environmental regulation 
and performance
The Group has in place procedures 
to identify and comply with particular 
and significant environmental 
regulations. Except as set out below, 
the operations of the Group are not 
subject to any particular and significant 
environmental regulation under a law of 
the Commonwealth of Australia or any 
of its states or territories and has not 
incurred any significant liabilities under 
any environmental legislation.

The National Greenhouse and Energy 
Reporting Act 2007 makes registration 
and reporting mandatory for corporations 
whose energy production, energy use, 
or greenhouse gas emissions trigger the 
specified corporate or facility threshold. 
RACV has reached the corporate 
threshold defined within this legislation 
and is required to submit its Annual 
Report by 31 October 2020.

THE DIRECTORS OF THE 
ROYAL AUTOMOBILE CLUB 
OF VICTORIA (RACV) LIMITED 
(THE PARENT ENTITY) 
PRESENT THEIR REPORT 
TOGETHER WITH THE 
FINANCIAL REPORT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED ENTITY 
(THE GROUP), BEING THE 
PARENT ENTITY AND ITS 
SUBSIDIARIES, FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020.

Directors 
The following persons were directors of RACV during the 
whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report:

• Mr G J Chipp
• Mr G O Cosgriff (Chairman)
• Ms J K Green
• Ms P M Kelly
• Ms M H Kelsall
• Ms J L Leonard
• Mr G D Willis 
• Mr J M S Slattery
• Mr N Taylor 
• Mr G Robinson 
• Ms N M Griffin resigned as a director of 

the parent entity on 12 November 2019.
• Mr A Downie resigned as a director of 

the parent entity on 12 November 2019.
• Ms D M Pitt was appointed as a director 

of the parent entity on 13 November 2019 
and continues in office to the date of this report. 

11

ANNUAL REVIEW 2020

10

http://www.racv.com.au


Neil Taylor 
BA (Geog) (Hons)

Experience
Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer of RACV Limited and its 
associated entities, appointed in March 
2016. Over 25 years’ experience in the 
corporate sector, both in Australia and 
overseas. Neil sits on several Subsidiary 
Company Boards including Insurance 
Manufacturers Australia, Club Assist, 
Repairhub, Australian Automotive 
Association and is the Chairman of both 
Intelematics and Australian Motoring 
Services. Neil has completed courses 
at both Wharton and Harvard Business 
Schools in the United States of America.

Special responsibilities
Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer 

Graeme J Chipp 
B.Bus (Acc), MBA (avec mention), 
GAICD, FAMI

Experience
Independent non-executive director 
appointed in June 2008. Co-founder 
and Managing Director of management 
consultants, Growth Solutions Group Pty 
Ltd, and now a senior advisor with SPP 
management consultants. A trustee 
of the Robert Rose Foundation and 
has over 35 years’ experience in the 
corporate sector including senior roles 
with ANZ and McKinsey and Company.

Special responsibilities
Chairman of RACV Community 
Foundation Ltd

Geoffrey O Cosgriff
BAppSc (Elec), FAICD, FIE Australia, 
Dip.CD, WCLP

Experience
Independent non-executive director 
appointed in November 2012. Extensive 
business experience as an executive 
manager and director in information 
technology, transport and infrastructure 
companies. Former Chairman of 
UXC Ltd, Leadership Victoria and a 
former director of Logica Australia 
and Transurban. Actively engaged in 
coaching and mentoring executive 
managers and directors of companies 
in a diverse range of industry sectors. 
Appointed non-executive director of 
IMA Ltd in July 2019 and Intelematics 
Australia Pty Limited in April 2013.

Special responsibilities
President and Chairman

Julie K Green 
FCA, FAICD, WCLP

Experience
Independent non-executive director 
appointed in November 2013. Director 
of R.A.C.V. Finance, Bendigo Health, 
Greening Australia, Loddon Mallee 
Waste & Resource Recovery Group, 
Maldon Hospital and Advisory Board 
Member for Redgrid. Formerly director 
of Shepparton Villages, a large regional 
aged care provider and Chair The 
Innovation Cooperative. Executive career 
in professional services, infrastructure, 
transport, utilities and healthcare in the 
public and private sectors. A business 
consultant in strategy, governance and 
change management.

Patricia M Kelly
Experience
Independent non-executive director 
appointed in June 2010. Over 35 years’ 
experience in the Financial Services 
industry. Former Executive General 
Manager Strategy and Business 
Development Personal Insurance 
at Suncorp and previously director 
and executive of Norwich Union Life 
Australia. Past President and Honorary 
Life Member of the Insurance Institute 
of Victoria and former director of the 
Australian and New Zealand Institute 
of Insurance and Finance. Currently 
Chairman of Ansvar Ltd and RACT 
Insurance and an independent non-
executive director of Legal Practitioners 
Liability Committee.

Merran H Kelsall 
BCom (Hons), FCA, FCPA,  
MBA, FAICD

Experience
Independent non-executive director 
appointed in June 2008. Former 
partner of BDO Chartered Accountants, 
former Chairman & CEO, Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board 
and Member International Auditing & 
Assurance Standards Board. Currently 
a Director of Care Super, Australian 
Red Cross Lifeblood and Deputy 
President, CPA Australia and Deputy 
Chair Melbourne Water Corporation. 
Appointed as a Professor of Practice at 
the School of Accounting in the UNSW 
Business School in 2018.

Special responsibilities
Chairman of the Appointments 
and Remuneration Committee

Board of 
Directors

THE BOARD CURRENTLY 
COMPRISES TEN NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
AND ONE EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR WHO IS 
APPOINTED AS MANAGING 
DIRECTOR/CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER. 

Non-executive directors are elected by Members in accordance 
with Article 33 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association 
of RACV Limited. 

The maximum annual aggregate directors’ fee pool limit is 
$2,000,000, which was approved by Members at the Annual 
General Meeting on 12 November 2013 in accordance with Article 
38(a) of RACV Limited’s Articles of Association. The total amount 
of fees paid to non-executive directors during the financial year 
was $1,386,975 (2019: $1,628,356) including a voluntary fee 
reduction due to COVID-19 impact.
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RACV Board and Committee meetings

Director
Board 
Meetings

Audit and 
Compliance 
Committee

Governance 
and Risk 
Management 
Committee

Club and 
Membership 
Committee

Appointments 
and 
Remuneration 
Committee

A B A B A B A B A B
Mr G J Chipp 7 7 - - - - 4 4 - -
Mr G O Cosgriff 8 8 - - 1 1 - - 5 5
Mr A Downie 2 2 - - - - 1 1 - -
Ms J K Green 8 8 - - - - 4 4 - -
Ms N M Griffin 2 2 - - - - 1 1 2 2
Ms P M Kelly 8 8 - - - - - - 5 5
Ms M H Kelsall 8 8 4 3 - - - - 5 5
Ms J L Leonard 8 8 4 4 5 5 - - - -
Ms D M Pitt 6 6 - - 2 2 1 1 - -
Mr G J Robinson 8 8 4 4 5 5 - - - -
Mr J M S Slattery 8 8 4 4 - - 4 4 - -
Mr N Taylor 8 8 - - - - - - - -
Mr G D Willis 8 8 - - 5 5 - - - -

A = Number of meetings eligible to attend  
B = Number of meetings attended 
The President and Chairman and MD and CEO attends all Committee Meetings by invitation. 
Other directors attend some committee meetings by invitation. 

Company Secretary
Ms M E Grogan, LLB (Hons), BA, GradDipAppFin, GAICD, 
FGIA was appointed to the position of Company Secretary in 
April 2018. Ms Grogan is admitted to practice as an Australian 
lawyer and has had over 25 years’ commercial, governance 
and legal experience. Ms Grogan has responsibility for all 
Company and Board secretarial duties.

The alternate Company Secretaries are:

• Mr R C Tweddle, AGIA, BA, LLB who was appointed to the 
position of alternate Company Secretary in 2005. He has 
practised as a solicitor for 30 years.

• Mr P C Rich, AGIA, BCom, Grad.Dip.AppCorpGov who was 
appointed to the position of alternate Company Secretary 
in 2010.

Indemnification and insurance of 
directors and officers
To the extent permitted by law, the parent entity has 
indemnified each director, secretary and officer against liability 
arising from their role as directors and officers by paying 
premiums on an insurance contract. This insurance contract 
prohibits disclosure of the premium paid. No liabilities have 
arisen under these indemnities as at the date of this report.

Auditor’s independence declaration
The Auditor’s independence declaration is set out on 
page 17 and forms part of the Directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2020.

Rounding
The Group is of a kind referred to in the ASIC Corporations 
(Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, 
dated 24 March 2016 issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission. Amounts in this Directors’ report 
and the consolidated Financial Statements, unless otherwise 
indicated, have been rounded to the nearest hundred 
thousand dollars in accordance with that Instrument.

This Directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution 
of the Board of directors.

G O Cosgriff President and Chairman 

N Taylor Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Melbourne, 30 September 2020

Jodie Leonard
BBus (Marketing), FAICD,  
FAMI, CPM

Experience
Independent non-executive director 
appointed June 2017. Over 30 years’ 
experience in corporate strategy 
and marketing, both locally and 
internationally. Former Vice President 
Strategy and Marketing at GE. Currently 
a non-executive director of Flexigroup 
(ASX:FXL) and BWX Ltd (ASX:BWX). 
Formerly a non-executive director of 
Beyond Bank Australia, Racing Victoria, 
Tourism North East and an Advisory 
Board Member of Monash Business 
School (Marketing).

Denice Pitt
MBM, GAICD
Independent non-executive director 
appointed in November 2019. Chief 
Executive Officer of Online Education 
Services (OES) since July 2011. Over 
25 years’ leadership experience in 
the telecommunications, technology 
and outsourcing industries. Currently 
a non-executive director of Firbank 
Grammar. Formerly non-executive 
director of Good Shepherd Microfinance. 
Holds a Masters of Business Management 
and is a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Gregory J Robinson
Bsc (Hon), MBA (Columbia), MAICD

Experience
Independent non-executive director 
appointed in April 2018. Over 30 years’ 
experience in strategy, operations 
management, finance, accounting, 
risk management and resources both 
in Australia and overseas. Currently 
a non-executive Director of Incitec 
Pivot Ltd. Previously CEO of Newcrest 
Mining and Lattice Energy; Finance 
Director Newcrest Mining; CFO/CDO 
BHP’s Energy Division (member group 
Executive Committee) and Director 
Merrill Lynch Investment Banking. 
Previous board member at St Vincent’s 
Institute of Medical Research.

Special responsibilities
• Deputy Chairman
• Chairman of the Audit and 

Compliance Committee 
• Chairman of R.A.C.V. Finance Limited

John M S Slattery 
B.Comm, LLB (Hons)

Experience
Independent non-executive director 
appointed in June 2011. Former 
corporate law partner in the national 
legal firm of Corrs Chambers Westgarth 
for 27 years, and former partner in charge 
of the Melbourne office, Chairman of 
the International Division of Corrs, and 
member of the Corrs national executive 
between 1999 and 2009. 

Special responsibilities
Chairman of the Club and 
Membership Committee

Graeme Willis 
SF Fin, FAICD, FCIBS, FGIA

Experience
Independent non-executive director 
appointed in April 2012. Completed a 
Management Development program 
at the Harvard Business School and 
Fellow of Governance Institute of 
Australia and AICD. A career of over 
40 years in banking and finance and 
held many senior Board and executive 
management positions with major 
European and Australian banks. 
Independent non-executive director 
and Chair of Australian Settlements Ltd. 
An independent non-executive director 
and Deputy Chairman of Bank First. 

Special responsibilities
Chairman of the Governance and 
Risk Management Committee 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration1

As lead auditor for the audit of Royal Automobile Club of 
Victoria (RACV) Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, 
I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there 
have been:

a. no contraventions of the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit; and

b. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional 
conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Royal Automobile Club of 
Victoria (RACV) Limited and the entities it controlled during 
the period.

A Linschoten Partner, PricewaterhouseCoopers

Melbourne, 30 September 2020

Corporate Directory
President and Chairman 
Mr G Cosgriff  
BAPPSC (ELEC), FAICD, FIE AUSTRALIA, DIP.CD, WCLP

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
Mr N Taylor 
BA (GEOG) (HONS)

LEADERSHIP TEAM

Chief Financial Officer  
Mr M Sheehy  
BEC (ACC), CA, GAICD

Executive General Manager  
Home  
Ms N Brasz  
BCOMM(HONS), MCOM

Executive General Manager  
Leisure  
Mr C Peachey  
BCOMM, CA, MBA, GAICD

Executive General Manager  
Motoring and Mobility  
Mr P Turnbull  
BSC

Executive General Manager  
Membership  
Mr K Ramsdale  
BCOMM MBA

Executive General Manager  
Corporate Services  
Ms M Rich  
BENG(MECH), MBA

Executive General Manager  
Transformation  
Mr M Geraghty  
BSC(HONS), MCOM, GAICD

Chief of Staff  
Ms Louise Steinfort

Company Secretary and Governance Counsel   
Mandy Grogan  
FGIA, LLB (HONS), BA, GRADDIPAPPFIN

1  Final Audit Independence Declaration will be presented on the PricewaterhouseCoopers’ letterhead.

 

  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor's report. 

 

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

 
Anton Linschoten 

 
 
 

Melbourne 
Partner 30 September 2020 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Notes
2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Revenue
Subscription and entrance fee income 207.3 222.2
Commission income 130.3 125.7
Club and resorts trading income 141.5 182.6
Sale of goods 53.5 47.4
Other trading income 39.2 32.3
Traffic content income 15.0 14.9
Towing income 40.3 39.7
Interest on loans and leases 33.3 31.2
Trust distributions 20.4 19.5
Other investment income 6.4 8.0
Profit on sale of plant and equipment 0.6 0.3
Operating revenue 687.8 723.8

Fair value adjustment to assets 4,7 - 9.6
Other income - 9.6
Total income 687.8 733.4
Expenses
Employee benefits expense (269.2) (287.2)
External fees expense (111.1) (127.3)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 4,5,6 (62.5) (56.1)
Inventories recognised as expense (51.8) (41.7)
Computer and telecommunications expense (49.9) (63.1)
Advertising expense (29.0) (33.6)
Consumables expense (32.8) (32.8)
Property expense (32.3) (37.2)
Interest expense and other finance costs (27.5) (26.0)
Fair value adjustment to assets (4.5) -
Other charges relating to assets (2.6) (2.7)
Impairment of assets 4,6 (3.3) 16.1
Other expenses (30.3) (27.9)
Total expenses (706.8) (719.5)

Share of net profit and impairment of equity accounted investments 20(b) 63.2 102.7

Profit before net gain on financial assets and income tax 44.2 116.6

Net gain on financial assets
Net (loss)/gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (19.2) 14.4

Profit before income tax 25.0 131.0

Income tax expense 14 (21.7) (12.5)

Profit after income tax 3.3 118.5

Profit after income tax is attributable to:
Members of RACV Group 0.6 116.3
Non-controlling interests 2.7 2.2

3.3 118.5
The above consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Notes
2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Profit after income tax 3.3 118.5

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net of tax 22(c) - (0.1)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of land and buildings, net of tax 22(a) 46.1 15.3
Superannuation plan remeasurements, net of tax 22(c) (6.4) (3.2)
Change in associate retained earnings, net of tax 22(c) 0.3 (0.1)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 40.0 11.9

Total comprehensive income for the year 43.3 130.4

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:
Members of RACV Group 40.6 128.2
Non-controlling interests 2.7 2.2

43.3 130.4
The above consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2020

Notes
2020 
$m

2019 
$m

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 61.5 51.7
Receivables 2 161.7 161.3
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 33.5 42.7
Inventories 5.9 6.5
Prepayments and accrued income 40.1 31.0
Finance lease receivables 2.5 2.4
Other current assets 0.5 -
Total current assets 305.7 295.6
Non-current assets
Receivables 2 314.9 311.3
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 448.2 507.1
Investments accounted for using the equity method 20 353.2 341.2
Property, plant and equipment 4 861.0 812.2
Right-of-use assets 5 16.9 -
Intangible assets 6 143.5 99.0
Investment properties 7 83.8 65.5
Deferred tax assets 15 38.0 62.8
Finance lease receivables 9.6 9.5
Total non-current assets 2,269.1 2,208.6

Total assets 2,574.8 2,504.2

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 3 76.9 78.7
Interest bearing liabilities 11 238.3 150.9
Lease liabilities 5 4.8 -
Current tax payable 0.6 0.5
Provisions 8 59.1 45.3
Unearned income and contract liabilities 9 144.0 143.8
Total current liabilities 523.7 419.2
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 11 148.0 238.1
Lease liabilities 5 13.0 -
Superannuation benefits 17 29.9 19.4
Provisions 8 4.9 5.3
Unearned income and contract liabilities 9 41.9 49.5
Total non-current liabilities 237.7 312.3

Total liabilities 761.4 731.5

Net assets 1,813.4 1,772.7

Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2020

Notes
2020 
$m

2019 
$m

EQUITY
Member reserves 22(a) 159.9 113.6
Retained earnings 22(c) 1,643.7 1,649.6

Equity attributable to members of RACV Group 1,803.6 1,763.2

Non-controlling interests 9.8 9.5

Total equity 1,813.4 1,772.7
The above consolidated Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2322

ANNUAL REVIEW 2020



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Notes
2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Cash flows from operating activities

Subscription and entrance fee income received 248.5 240.7
Club and resorts trading income received 154.2 199.1
Commission income received 143.7 133.5
Sale of goods 59.2 51.9
Other trading, traffic content and towing income received 103.2 92.2
Payments to suppliers and employees (711.2) (717.5)
Net cash outflow from loans and leases (2.2) (18.7)
Dividends received from equity accounted investments 87.3 75.9
Interest received 36.8 34.9
Interest paid (13.8) (13.4)
Income tax paid (1.2) (2.2)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1 104.5 76.4

Cash flows from investing activities

Trust distributions received 18.4 15.3
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3.1 2.9
Proceeds from sale/maturity of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss

128.0 52.7

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (83.5) (93.6)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (67.5) (39.6)
Purchase of intangibles (45.7) (26.6)
Payment for acquisition of controlled entities (10.3) (4.0)
Proceed from business disposal - 6.6
Payment for equity accounted investments (29.8) (6.4)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (87.3) (92.7)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds/(repayment) from issue of borrowings/secured notes 4.2 (1.8)
Net (repayment)/proceeds from subscription agreement (1.0) 12.5
Net (repayment)/proceeds from chattel mortgages (7.2) 0.2
Net repayment of lease liabilities (5.7) -
Proceeds from repayments of finance lease receivables 3.9 2.7
Dividends paid (2.4) -
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (8.2) 13.6

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9.0 (2.7)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 51.7 54.4
Cash acquired through business combination 19 0.8 -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 1 61.5 51.7
The above consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Attributable to Members of RACV Group

Notes

Member 
reserves 
$m

Retained 
earnings 
$m

Total 
members’ 
equity 
$m

Non-
controlling 
interests 
$m

Total 
equity 
$m

Balance at 1 July 2018 98.6 1,540.4 1,639.0 7.6 1,646.6

Profit after income tax - 116.3 116.3 2.2 118.5
Other comprehensive (loss)/income 15.3 (3.4) 11.9 - 11.9
Total comprehensive income 
for the year

15.3 112.9 128.2 2.2 130.4

Transactions with non-controlling 
interests

- (4.0) (4.0) (0.2) (4.2)

Dividends provided for or paid - - - (0.1) (0.1)

Transfer between reserves 
and retained earnings

(0.3) 0.3 - - -

Balance at 30 June 2019 22 113.6 1,649.6 1,763.2 9.5 1,772.7
Change in accounting policy 
- AASB 161 - (0.2) (0.2) - (0.2)
Adjusted balance at 1 July 2019 113.6 1,649.4 1,763.0 9.5 1,772.5

Profit after income tax - 0.6 0.6 2.7 3.3
Other comprehensive (loss)/income 46.1 (6.1) 40.0 - 40.0
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
for the year

46.1 (5.5) 40.6 2.7 43.3

Transactions with non-controlling 
interests
Dividends provided for or paid - - - (2.4) (2.4)

Transfer between reserves 
and retained earnings

0.2 (0.2) - - -

Balance at 30 June 2020 22 159.9 1,643.7 1,806.6 9.8 1,813.4
1  See note 26(y) regarding restatement on adoption of AASB 16 

The above consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2524

ANNUAL REVIEW 2020



Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2020

Working capital management

1. Cash and cash equivalents

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Cash at bank and on hand 61.5 51.7
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The Group has a combined net bank overdraft 
facility of $6.0 million (2019: $5.5 million).  After adjusting for cash balances and unpresented cheques the Group net bank 
overdraft amounted to $nil (2019: $nil).

a. Reconciliation of net cash inflow provided by operating activities to net profit after income tax

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Net profit after income tax 3.3 118.5

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities:
Share of loss/(profit) of equity accounted investments (net of dividends) 20.6 (26.4)
Net profit on sale of plant and equipment (0.6) (0.3)
Trust distributions received (18.4) (15.3)
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3.7 1.7
Interest expense on lease liabilities 0.6 -
Dividends paid/(provided) 2.4 (0.3)

Add/(less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 62.5 56.1
Provision for doubtful debts 2.6 0.5
Amortisation of loan and lease receivables 2.6 2.5
Superannuation – defined benefit expense 1.2 1.0
Fair value adjustments to assets 4.5 (9.6)
Impairment of assets (net of reversal) 3.3 (16.1)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in receivables (2.0) (15.3)
Increase/(decrease) in inventories 1.9 (1.9)
Increase in prepayments and accrued income (9.1) (8.4)
Decrease in other current assets 0.6 -
(Decrease)/increase in payables (6.8) 4.0
Decrease in unearned income and contract liabilities (7.4) (5.0)
Increase in provisions 8.8 0.4
Decrease/(increase) in net deferred tax balances 30.2 (9.7)

Net cash provided by operating activities 104.5 76.4

b. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Subscription 
agreements 
$m

Secured  
notes 
$m

Chattel 
Mortgages 
$m

Funding  
facility 
$m

Total  
$m

Opening balance 1 July 2019 164.0 198.7 26.8 - 389.5
Cash flows (1.0) 4.2 (7.2) - (4.0)
Non-cash items - (0.2) 1.2 - 1.0
Closing balance 30 June 2020 163.0 202.7 20.8 - 386.5

Subscription 
agreements 
$m

Secured  
notes 
$m

Finance lease 
liabilities 
$m

Funding  
facility 
$m

Total  
$m

Opening balance 1 July 2018 151.5 200.2 26.6 - 378.3
Cash flows 12.5 (1.8) 0.2 0.3 11.2
Acquisition - 0.3 - (0.3) -
Closing balance 30 June 2019 164.0 198.7 26.8 - 389.5

2. Receivables

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Current
Loan receivables 122.5 114.6
Lease receivables 9.2 22.7
Trade receivables 24.1 17.3

155.8 154.6
Provision for doubtful debts (1.3) (1.0)

154.5 153.6
Other receivables 7.2 7.7

161.7 161.3
Non-current
Loan receivables 300.3 282.7
Lease receivables 16.2 29.5

316.5 312.2
Provision for doubtful debts (1.6) (0.9)

314.9 311.3

a. Movement in provision for doubtful debts

Loan and 
lease 
receivables 
$m

Trade  
receivables 
$m

Total 
$m

2020
Opening balance 1.2 0.7 1.9
Provision raised during the year 2.3 0.3 2.6
Bad debts written off during the year (1.3) (0.3) (1.6)
Closing balance 2.2 0.7 2.9
2019
Opening balance 1.7 0.7 2.4
Provision raised during the year 0.2 0.3 0.5
Bad debts written off during the year (0.7) (0.3) (1.0)
Closing balance 1.2 0.7 1.9
Refer note 11(a) for information on non-current assets pledged as security by R.A.C.V. Finance Limited.

b. Accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements: Provision for impairment of loan, lease 
receivables

Loan and lease receivables are carried at amortised cost less a provision for impairment. The provision for impairment is 
measured based on an expected credit loss model as outlined in note 12(a). In calculating the provision for impairment, the 
Group has made assumptions about the indicators of credit risk deterioration and write off rates. To mitigate the estimation 
uncertainty, expected credit losses are reviewed at each reporting period. In addition, all loans and leases are subject to 
regular management review. 
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3. Trade and other payables

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Current
Trade payables 59.7 68.9
Other payables 17.2 9.8

76.9 78.7

Other Assets and Liabilities

4. Property, Plant and Equipment

Freehold 
land and 
improvements 
$m

Buildings 
$m

Plant and 
equipment 
$m

In course of 
construction 
$m

Total 
$m

2020
Year ended 30 June 2020
Opening net book amount 207.5 528.9 61.1 14.7 812.2
Assets from business acquisition - - 0.2 - 0.2
Additions 13.3 4.5 10.4 39.3 67.5
Disposals - (0.5) (1.9) - (2.4)
Transfers 0.3 26.0 5.1 (38.0) (6.6)
Vehicles refinanced - - (2.3) - (2.3)
Revaluation increment 36.8 (4.6) - - 32.2
Impairment - - (1.8) (0.4) (2.2)
Depreciation (1.4) (20.0) (16.2) - (37.6)
Closing net book amount 256.5 534.3 54.6 15.6 861.0

At 30 June 2020
Cost or fair value 263.6 632.8 160.8 16.0 1,073.2
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

(7.1) (98.5) (106.2) (0.4) (212.2)

Net book amount 256.5 534.3 54.6 15.6 861.0

2019
Year ended 30 June 2019
Opening net book amount 193.9 501.6 66.7 5.4 767.6
Additions 0.1 3.1 3.7 22.9 29.8
Disposals - (1.0) (0.3) - (1.3)
Transfers 9.8 3.7 6.5 (13.6) 6.4
Revaluation increment 5.1 23.0 - - 28.1
Reversal of impairment - 16.9 - - 16.9
Depreciation (1.4) (18.4) (15.5) - (35.3)
Closing net book amount 207.5 528.9 61.1 14.7 812.2

At 30 June 2019
Cost or fair value 213.2 607.4 149.3 14.7 984.6
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment

(5.7) (78.5) (88.2) - (172.4)

Net book amount 207.5 528.9 61.1 14.7 812.2

a. Valuations of land and buildings
The basis of the valuation of land and buildings is fair value, being the price for which the properties could be sold in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Information about the valuation of land and buildings is 
provided in note 13(b).

b. Carrying amounts that would have been recognised if land and buildings were stated at cost
If freehold land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Freehold land and improvements
Cost 170.3 156.7
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (16.7) (14.3)
Net book amount 153.6 142.4

Buildings
Cost 658.5 629.4
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (184.8) (164.8)
Net book amount 473.7 464.6

5. Leases
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee. For leases where the Group is a lessor, see note 27.

The Group leases various retail shops, office space and warehouses. Fleet vehicles are also leased to support business operations.

a. Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
Right-of-use assets

Buildings 
$m

Plant and 
equipment 
$m

Total 
$m

2020
As at 1 July 2019 14.7 0.9 15.6
Assets from business combination 2.1 1.0 3.1
Additions 5.7 0.1 5.8
Lease modifications (1.7) (0.3) (2.0)
Depreciation (5.0) (0.6) (5.6)
As at 30 June 2020 15.8 1.1 16.9

2020 
$m

1 July 2019* 
$m

Lease liabilities
Current 4.8 4.4
Non-current 13.0 11.4

17.8 15.8
*  In the previous year, the Group only recognised lease assets and lease liabilities in relation to leases that were classified as ‘finance leases’ 

under AASB 117 Leases. The assets were presented in property, plant and equipment and the liabilities as part of the Group’s interest bearing 
liabilities. For adjustments recognised on adoption of AASB 16 on 1 July 2019, please refer to note 26(y).
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b. Amounts recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss
The Statement of Profit or Loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2020 
$m

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Buildings 5.0
Plant and equipment 0.6

5.6
Interest expense (included in finance cost) 0.6
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 6.2
The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was $5.7 million.

6. Intangible Assets

Goodwill 
$m

Customer 
contracts 
$m

Software 
$m

Software in 
development 
$m

Total 
$m

2020
Year ended 30 June 2020
Opening net book amount 22.1 6.9 27.9 42.1 99.0
Assets from business acquisition 12.0 1.2 - - 13.2
Additions - - 0.2 45.6 45.8
Disposals - - (0.2) - (0.2)
Transfers - - 13.8 (7.7) 6.1
Impairment - - - (1.1) (1.1)
Amortisation - (1.1) (18.2) - (19.3)
Closing net book amount 34.1 7.0 23.5 78.9 143.5

At 30 June 2020
Cost 34.1 9.5 204.5 80.0 328.1
Accumulated amortisation 
and impairment

- (2.5) (181.0) (1.1) (184.6)

Net book amount 34.1 7.0 23.5 78.9 143.5
2019
Year ended 30 June 2019
Opening net book amount 22.1 7.5 40.0 24.8 94.4
Additions - - 2.8 31.3 34.1
Disposals - - (1.6) - (1.6)
Transfers - - 7.6 (14.0) (6.4)
Impairment - - (0.8) - (0.8)
Amortisation - (0.6) (20.1) - (20.7)
Closing net book amount 22.1 6.9 27.9 42.1 99.0

At 30 June 2019
Cost 22.1 8.3 190.7 42.1 263.2
Accumulated amortisation 
and impairment

- (1.4) (162.8) - (164.2)

Net book amount 22.1 6.9 27.9 42.1 99.0

Impairment tests for goodwill and software in development 

A cash-generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill and software in development is allocated is identified according to business 
units and tested for impairment annually. For 2020, software in development is attributed to the Group excluding Finance, 
Leisure and PCW business units (2019: Group). Goodwill is attributed to the Nationwide ($21.1 million) and Gippsland Solar 
($12.0 million) business units. 

The recoverable amount and headroom for each business unit is as follows:

2020 Nationwide
Gippsland 
Solar

$m $m
Recoverable amount 43.8 24.3
Headroom 3.8 8.3

2019 Nationwide
Gippsland 
Solar

$m $m
Recoverable amount 43.1 -
Headroom 3.9 -

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined based on value in use calculations. The value in use calculations use cash 
flow projections based on financial forecasts prepared by management covering a 1 to 5 year period (2019: 1 to 5 year period). 

The key assumptions used in these goodwill and software in development calculations are as follows: 

Nationwide 
%

Gippsland 
Solar 
%

Software in 
development 
%

2020
Discount rate (pre-tax) 14.87 15.00 11.23
Revenue growth rate 1-8 2.5-28 -
EBITDA margin 19-20 8-9 -
Terminal growth rate 2.5 2.5 2.5
2019
Discount rate (pre-tax) 16.74 - 12.10
Revenue growth rate 2.5-17 - -
EBITDA margin 15-18 - -
Terminal growth rate 2.5 - 2.5

Management has determined the fair values assigned to each of the above assumptions as follows:

Assumption Approach used to determining values 
Discount rate (pre-tax) Reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.
Revenue growth rate Annual growth rate over the five-year forecasted period based on past performance, 

management’s expectations of market developments and COVID-19 expected impacts.
EBITDA margin Based on past performance and management’s expectations for the future.
Terminal growth rate This is the growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budgeted period. 

The rate is in line with long term inflation targets. 

The calculations also take into account market conditions and investment market returns. These assumptions have been 
determined by reference to historical company experience, industry benchmarks sourced externally where available and publicly 
available data. Whenever the CGU is impaired, the carrying amounts of goodwill and software in development are written down to 
their recoverable amount.

a. Accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements: impairment testing of goodwill
The cash flow projections used in impairment testing include significant assumptions around future financial performance, 
revenue growth rates and the EBITDA margin. Projected revenue growth is based on experience and business plans. It has taken 
into consideration the potential COVID-19 impacts which could delay revenue growth. Any development that has unfavourable 
impacts to these assumptions over a sustained period has the potential to result in an impairment of the CGU. 
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If the stabilised EBITDA for Nationwide was not achieved and the CGU’s net growth ranged between -1% to 8%, the CGU would 
have headroom or be impaired by:

Nationwide
2020
EBITDA Stabilised 18-19%
Revenue growth rate (1)-8%
Headroom/(Impairment) $1.3m
2019
EBITDA Stabilised 16%
(Impairment)/Headroom ($2.8m)

7. Investment Properties

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Opening balance 65.5 65.7
Disposal - (0.4)
Transfer  0.5 -
Net gain from fair value adjustments 17.8 0.2
Net book amount 83.8 65.5

a. Amounts recognised in the consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for investment properties

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Rental income 0.9 0.8
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income (1.7) (1.3)
Fair value gain  17.8 0.2

17.0 (0.3)

b. Valuation basis
The basis of the valuation of investment properties is fair value, being the price for which the properties could be sold in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Information about the valuation of investment properties is 
provided in note 13(b).

8. Provisions

Employee 
Benefits 
$m

ERA Refunds 
$m

Contingent 
consideration 
$m

Other 
$m

Total 
$m

2020
Opening balance 41.6 - - 9.0 50.6
Additional provisions recognised 0.9 12.4 4.4 5.7 23.4
Payments of economic benefits (8.1) (1.4) - (0.5) (10.0)
Closing balance 34.4 11.0 4.4 14.2 64.0

Current 2020 29.8 11.0 4.4 13.9 59.1
Non-current 2020 4.6 - - 0.3 4.9

34.4 11.0 4.4 14.2 64.0

Current 2019 36.7 - - 8.6 45.3
Non-current 2019 4.9 - - 0.4 5.3

41.6 - - 9.0 50.6

ERA Refunds

Provision for ERA refunds is a voluntary partial refund on Total Care and Extra Care contracts in force as at 31 March 2020.

9. Unearned Income and Contract Liabilities

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Current
Unearned income 116.1 115.6
Contract liabilities 27.9 28.2

144.0 143.8

Non-current
Contract liabilities 41.9 49.5

41.9 49.5
185.9 193.3

Contract liabilities 

Contracts for traffic content revenue provide customers with a right to access a licence, with revenue recognised over the contract 
term. The portion of monies received, which relate to performance obligations which are discharged after the reporting date, is 
included in contract liabilities. Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in the balance of contract liabilities at 
the beginning of the period was $12.8 million. Revenue recognised in the reporting period from performance obligations satisfied 
in previous years was $nil. 

The following table outlines the traffic content revenue on existing contracts expected to be recognised in the future which relates 
to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) as of the end of the reporting period: 

Year in which transaction price is expected to be realised $m 
Within one year 12.9
Later than one year but not later than five years 33.5
Later than five years 2.6
Total 49.0

The Group applies the practical expedient in AASB 15 and does not disclose information about the remaining performance 
obligation on contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less or where the Group has the right to 
consideration from a customer in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s 
performance to date. 

Financial Instruments and Risk Management

10. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Current
Unit trusts - unlisted 33.5 42.7

Non-current
Unit trusts - unlisted 448.2 507.1
Unit trusts balance incorporates $35 million reduction in cash and equivalent investments which have been used to fund 
the Group’s investments and operating activities.

11. Interest Bearing Liabilities

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Current
Secured notes 150.6 144.2
Subscription agreement 81.5 -
Chattel mortgages 6.3 6.7

238.4 150.9
Borrowing costs capitalised (0.1) -

238.3 150.9
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2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Non-current
Secured notes 52.1 54.5
Subscription agreement 81.5 164.0
Chattel mortgages 14.5 20.1

148.1 238.6
Borrowing costs capitalised (0.1) (0.5)

148.0 238.1

a. Secured notes
Secured notes were issued at a fixed rate for periods between six months and four years. Under the new prospectus issued on 
8 November 2019, secured notes are issued at a fixed rate for periods between six months and two years. Existing secured notes 
with more than two years maturity can only be rolled over for two years upon maturity. Secured notes are initially recorded at their 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Interest expense is recognised using the effective interest method and 
is payable on a quarterly, semi-annual or annual basis depending upon the notes selected.

Secured notes are secured by a first floating charge over the assets of R.A.C.V. Finance Limited under a Debenture Stock and 
Unsecured Notes Supplemental and Consolidated Trust Deed (Trust Deed) dated 4 May 2000. On 9 June 2015, the Trust 
Company (Australia) Limited replaced the original Trustee under and for the purpose of the Trust Deed. All other terms of the 
Trust Deed remain unchanged. 

R.A.C.V. Finance Limited assets pledged as security are as follows:

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Floating charge
Cash assets 7.3 2.0
Receivables - Current 135.8 136.1
Receivables - Non-current 310.5 312.1
Intangibles 1.6 0.1
Other assets 0.2 0.2
Total R.A.C.V. Finance Limited assets pledged as security 455.4 450.5

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, R.A.C.V. Finance Limited may in certain circumstances give charges over its assets wherever 
situated, ranking equally with or in priority to the security constituted by the charges under the Trust Deed, subject to borrowing 
limits which require:

i. secured liabilities to not exceed 85% of the tangible assets of R.A.C.V. Finance Limited and any guarantor bodies;
ii. prior secured liabilities to not exceed 10% of the tangible assets of R.A.C.V. Finance Limited and any guarantor bodies; and

iii. external liabilities to not exceed 93.75% of the tangible assets of R.A.C.V. Finance Limited and any guarantor bodies.
R.A.C.V. Finance Limited has a commitment from RACV Limited for an increase in its capital base by $10.0 million should the 
secured liabilities to tangible assets ratio reach 83.5%.

b. Subscription agreement
The subscription agreement is a secured borrowing facility carried at amortised cost and bears interest at market rates.

On 28 February 2019, a facility with National Australia Bank Limited (“NAB”) was established for $350.0 million, consisting of 
Tranche A $175.0 million and Tranche B $175.0million, and can be drawn for periods up to 24 and 36 calendar months respectively. 
The Tranche A facility and Tranche B facility expire on 28 February 2021 and 2022 respectively.

As at 30 June 2020, $163.0 million of the $350.0 million facility was drawn (2019: $164.0 million of the $350.0 million facility was 
drawn). This facility has been secured by secured notes. The individual drawdown amounts bear fixed interest rates with rollover 
dates and interest rates as shown below:

June 2020 June 2019
Principal 
amount 
$m

Interest rate 
(payable at rollover) 
% p.a

Rollover date Principal 
amount 
$m

Interest rate 
(payable at 
rollover) % p.a.

Rollover date

77.0 1.75 26 August 2020 0.5 3.39 3 July 2019
77.0 2.05 26 August 2020 0.5 3.69 3 July 2019
4.5 1.75 11 September 2020 78.5 3.05 2 September 2019
4.5 2.05 11 September 2020 78.5 3.35 2 September 2019

3.0 2.85 27 September 2019
3.0 3.15 27 September 2019

Under the NAB subscription agreement, R.A.C.V. Finance Limited has a financial undertaking to ensure that its gearing ratio is less 
than or equal to 0.85 times. This ratio is calculated as interest bearing liabilities divided by total tangible assets (2019: interest 
bearing liabilities divided by total tangible assets). The gearing ratio as at 30 June 2020 was 0.81 times (2019: 0.80 times). The 
Group was in compliance with its capital requirements throughout the whole financial year.

c. Chattel mortgages

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Chattel mortgages are secured by the underlying assets. These mortgages have varying terms 
and renewal rights.
Commitments in relation to chattel mortgages are payable as follows: 
Due not later than one year 7.0 7.8
Due later than one year but not later than five years 14.9 20.1
Due later than five years 0.6 1.8

22.5 29.7
The present value of chattel mortgages is as follows:
Due not later than one year 6.3 6.7
Due later than one year but not later than five years 13.9 18.4
Due later than five years 0.6 1.7

20.8 26.8

d. Secured funding facility 
On 30 April 2020, a one-year facility with National Australia Bank Limited (“NAB”) was established for $200.0 million expiring 
on 30 April 2021. The facility bears interest at market rates.

As at 30 June 2020, this facility was undrawn. The facility has been secured by a guarantee from certain Group entities and 
mortgages over two properties. 

Under the facility agreement, the guarantors are required to meet certain financial undertakings in relation to gearing, interest 
cover, leverage and minimum equity.

12. Financial Risk Management
The Group holds the following financial liabilities:

Note
2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 3 76.9 78.7
Secured notes 11 202.7 198.7
Subscription agreement 11 163.0 164.0
Chattel mortgages 11 20.8 26.8
Lease liabilities 5 17.8 -

481.2 468.2
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The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Group’s 
overall risk management program seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. Risk 
management is carried out by the Group’s management under policies approved by the Board of directors. The Group uses 
different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include monthly cash flow projections 
for liquidity risk and ageing analysis for credit risk.

a. Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk on financial assets of the Group is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in 
the Balance Sheet. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, receivables and committed transactions. Cash and cash 
equivalents are held with independently rated banks with a minimum rating of ‘BBB+’ (2019: ‘A’). In relation to receivables, which 
consist largely of loans and leases, the Group manages credit risk by ensuring the portfolio is well diversified across a large 
number of customers.

Credit risk also arises in relation to financial guarantees given to certain parties (refernote 12(a)(iv)). Such guarantees are only 
provided in exceptional circumstances and are subject to specific Board approval. Trade and other receivables are well diversified 
across a large number of customers and do not expose the Group to significant credit risk. Credit risk exposures relating to loans, 
leases and financial guarantees are disclosed below in more detail.

The Group’s material risks are disclosed below:

i. Credit risk in relation to loan and lease receivables 
Credit risk is managed by using a prudent risk assessment process for all customers with the intention of seeking minimum 
exposure at all times and assessing the borrower’s capacity to repay the loan or lease. Credit risk is assessed similarly for each 
loan or lease based on the borrower’s credit worthiness, credit history and the collateral being provided. Internal policies provide 
guidance on the acceptable mix of risk categories associated with the receivables portfolio.

Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements

Credit risk on loan and lease receivables is mitigated by obtaining security over the underlying asset. 

The majority of consumer loan receivables are secured with a motor vehicle and the security registered on the Personal Property 
Security Register. The vehicle can be repossessed if the counterparty is in default under the terms of agreement. Where there 
is a shortfall in security held over the motor vehicle, a caveat may be placed over real estate property of the borrower or treated 
as unsecured.

For novated lease agreements and business loans (goods mortgage and commercial hire purchase agreements), the motor 
vehicle remains the property of the Group until all payments and the residual are repaid. 

The following table shows the extent to which mortgage over motor vehicles (for consumer loans) and ownership of property 
(for novated leases and business loans) mitigate credit risk:

Maximum exposure 
to credit risk 
$m 

Market value* of collateral 
held at reporting date 
$m

Secured 
% 

June 2020
Loan receivables 422.8 366.0 87
Lease receivables 25.4 24.8 98
June 2019
Loan receivables 397.3 338.0 85
Lease receivables 52.2 47.2 90

* Value of motor vehicles as quoted in the Glass’s Guide vehicle pricing guide. 

All loans over 60 days in arrears are considered to be in default and are subject to the formal collection procedures which 
includes the issuance of an enforcement notice (under section 88 of the National Credit Code). In certain circumstances, a default 
record may be listed on a customer’s personal credit file. Steps are taken to repossess the collateral if the overdue payment is 
not made within 35 days of the notice. Repossessed collateral is sold at a public auction. The carrying amount of repossessed 
vehicles as at 30 June 2020, representing the foreclosed collateral obtained through the enforcement of security was $15,500 
(2019: $68,500). There has been an increase in the allowance for hardship application in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Some customers are covered under Credit Protection Insurance which covers loan repayments if customers are unable to meet 
payment commitments because of illness, injury or unemployment. 

Concentrations of credit risk in relation to loan and lease receivables

The Group minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to loan receivables by diversification across a large number 
of customers. A prudent risk assessment process for all customers is used to manage the credit risk on loan receivables.

Concentration of risk on leases and commercial hire purchases is minimised by the spread of transactions with a large number 
of customers. Credit risk is minimised through prudent assessment policies and ensuring final balloon repayment amounts are 
in line with estimated asset values at the end of the repayment term. 

The categories of credit risk exposure and the maximum exposure for each concentration are as follows:

Category
2020 
%

2019 
%

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Secured loans 94 88 422.6 396.9
Unsecured loans - - 0.2 0.4
Leases 6 12 25.4 52.2
Total receivables 100 100 448.2 449.5

ii. Impairment 
The impairment requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost, and lease receivables. For trade receivables 
and lease receivables the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by AASB 9, which requires expected lifetime losses 
to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. For loan receivables, the Group applies a three-stage approach to 
measuring the ECL based on changes in the financial asset’s underlying credit risk. 

Stage 1: 12-months ECL 

At initial recognition, and for financial assets for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR), ECL is 
determined based on the probability of default (PD) over the next 12 months. Interest income is determined with reference to 
the financial asset’s effective interest rate (EIR) and the financial asset’s gross carrying amount. 

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired 

When there has been a SICR, the ECL is determined with reference to the financial asset’s life-time PD and the lifetime losses 
associated with that PD. The Group assesses whether there has been a SICR since initial recognition based on qualitative and 
quantitative data. Interest income is determined with reference to the financial asset’s EIR and the financial asset’s gross 
carrying amount. 

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit impaired 

Financial assets are classified as stage 3 where they are determined to be credit impaired, which is where loans are more than 
60 days past due or flagged as ‘At Risk’. 

The ECL for credit impaired financial assets is generally measured as the difference between the contractual and expected cash 
flows from the individual exposure, discounted using the EIR for that exposure. Interest income is determined with reference to 
the financial asset’s EIR and the financial asset’s amortised cost carrying value, being the exposure’s gross carrying value after 
the ECL provision. 

The Group uses three categories for loans which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is determined for each 
of those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s expected credit loss model is as follows: 

Category Group definition of category 
Basis for recognition of expected 
credit loss provision 

Stage 1 • Loans without any impairment 
indicators 

• 12 month expected losses

• Where the expected lifetime of 
an asset is less than 12 months, 
expected losses are measured at its 
expected lifetime 

Stage 2 • Hardship/variation 

• 30 days in arrears 3 times 

• Lifetime expected losses 

Stage 3 • Loans flagged ‘At Risk’ 

• 60 days in arrears once 

• Lifetime expected losses 

Historical evidence demonstrates that loans ‘30 days in arrears’ are often due to administrative matters or a genuine oversight 
on the customer’s behalf, and there is no correlation between a once off ‘30 days in arrears’ and a significant increase in risk 
of a default occurring. The Group considers where a loan is ‘30 days in arrears’ 3 times to be more representative of the credit 
risk deterioration.

Indicators for loans flagged ‘At Risk’ include delinquency, repossession of vehicles, bankruptcy or inability to locate customers 
or vehicles.

The Group considers its historical loss experience and adjusts this for current observable data. In addition, the Group monitors the 
macroeconomic conditions to ensure impacts are appropriately reflected when estimating the amount of an expected impairment 
loss. In light of COVID-19, an additional assessment of hardship applications with respect of receivables with balances more than 
30 days past due was completed and formed part of the management overlay outlined below
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Scenario analysis

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 
The model does not contain economic variables relevant to the Group that could be varied for scenario analysis. Instead, the Group 
prepares a scenario analysis showing the impact to the total current provision across Stages 1 and 2 if 10%, 20% and 30% of the 
Stage 1 financed amount were to move into Stage 2 (assuming the provision of financed amount % remains the same).

The following provides an overview of the scenarios as well as the expected change to the provision.

Current Provision 
$m

Provision  
+10%

Provision 
+20%

Provision 
+30%

Stage 1 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.3
Stage 2 0.1 0.4 0.7 0.9
Total 0.5 0.8 1.0 1.2
Variance - 0.2 0.4 0.6

Management overlay

At 30 June 2020 approximately 4.27% of the Group’s customers have requested a payment holiday. In the current ECL model, 
loan accounts with a payment holiday are moved from Stage 1 to Stage 2 despite no arrears trigger being present.  However, given 
uncertainty around the full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as at the balance date, management specifically considered the 
increase in the estimated probability of default for these loan accounts.  As a result, a management overlay provision was raised in 
addition to the standard modelled provision.  The impact on management overlay using between -/+ 0 and 10 basis points, with 
all other variance held constant is +/- $0.4 million.

The modelled performance of these receivables will evolve as the situation unfolds and more data is available to model or 
understand the credit risk and loss implications from the COVID-19 pandemic and the mitigating impact of government stimulus. 
Over time, as the impact is more understood and reflected in the data, the overlay can be expected to reduce as the impact will 
be more embedded in the routine modelled outcome.

Interest on consumer loans is calculated on the daily balance outstanding and is charged in arrears to a customer’s account in 
accordance with the terms of the loan agreement.

Receivables are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date which 
are classified as non-current assets. The carrying amount of receivables approximates fair value as the impact of discounting is 
not significant.

Modification of financial assets

The Group sometimes modifies the terms of loans and leases provided to customers due to payment holidays.  Restructuring 
policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, based on management’s judgement, indicates that payment will 
most likely continue.  These policies are kept under continuous review.

iii. Credit quality
The level of risk associated with a loan or lease receivable is indicated by its credit quality which is evaluated using the Equifax 
score (formerly known as VedaScore). The following table represents the credit quality of loan and lease receivables. 

Stage 1 – 12 month expected 
credit loss

Stage 2 – 
Lifetime 
expected 
credit loss

Stage 3 – 
Lifetime 
expected 
credit loss

Finance 
Lease Total

High 
Grade1 
$m

Medium 
Grade2 
$m

Low 
Grade3 
$m $m $m $m $m

30 June 2020 
Loan receivables 290.9 79.8 24.1 20.8 7.2 - 422.8
Lease receivables - - - - - 25.4 25.4

290.9 79.8 24.1 20.8 7.2 25.4 448.2

30 June 2019 

Loan receivables 264.7 88.1 32.7 6.0 5.8 - 397.3
Lease receivables - - - - - 52.2 52.2

264.7 88.1 32.7 6.0 5.8 52.2 449.5

The provision for impairment by category is as follows:

Stage 1 – 12 month 
expected 
credit loss

Management 
Overlay

Stage 2 – 
Lifetime 
expected 
credit loss

Stage 3 – 
Lifetime 
expected 
credit loss

Finance 
Lease Total

High 
Grade 
$m

Medium 
Grade 
$m

Low 
Grade 
$m $m $m $m $m $m

30 June 2020 
Loan receivables 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.8 0.1 0.6 - 1.9
Lease receivables - - - 0.1 - - 0.2 0.3

0.2 0.1 0.1 0.9 0.1 0.6 0.2 2.2
30 June 2019 

Loan receivables 0.1 0.1 0.1 - 0.1 0.6 - 1.0
Lease receivables - - - - - - 0.2 0.2

0.1 0.1 0.1 - 0.1 0.6 0.2 1.2

1 Equifax score above 500  
2 Equifax score between 0 to 500  
3 Equifax score below zero 

iv. Financial guarantees
Cross guarantees are given by RACV and each of its wholly owned subsidiaries within the Closed Group as described in note 25. 
No deficiencies of assets exist in the Closed Group. No liability was recognised by the Group in respect of these guarantees.

b. Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the financial obligations of the Group cannot be met as and when they fall due without incurring 
significant costs. The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring of budget and actual cash flows and reporting 
liquidity projections to the Board. The Group monitors its liquidity position on a monthly basis with the aim of maintaining a liquidity 
target between 0.2 and 1.0 of one month’s operating expenses (2019: between 0.3 and 0.6 of one month’s operating expenses). 
The average liquidity position for the Group was 0.5 months (2019: 0.5 months). Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 
businesses, the Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available. While the Financial 
Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss are classified as non-current based on their expected redemption profile, these 
investments are redeemable on demand and are therefore also available to meet the Group’s liquidity needs if required.

Financing arrangements

The Group had access to the following net undrawn borrowing facilities at the reporting date:

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Floating rate
Expiring within 1 year (bank overdraft) 6.0 5.5
Expiring within 1 year (secured funding facility) 200.0 -
Expiring within 1 year (subscription agreement) 93.5 -
Expiring within 2 years (subscription agreement) 93.5 93.0
Expiring within 3 years (subscription agreement) - 93.0

393.0 191.5
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Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows.

Up to 1 
month 
$m

1 year or 
less 
$m

Over 1 to 
5 years 
$m

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 
$m

Carrying 
amount 
$m

June 2020
Non-interest bearing 76.9 - - 76.9 76.9
Fixed interest rate 18.0 140.0 230.5 388.5 386.3
Lease liabilities - 5.4 13.3 18.7 17.8

94.9 145.4 243.8 484.1 481.0
June 2019
Non-interest bearing 78.7 - - 78.7 78.7
Fixed interest rate 18.2 133.8 238.2 390.2 389.0

96.9 133.8 238.2 468.9 467.7

c. Market risk

i. Price risk
The Group is exposed to unit trust price risk. This arises from investments held by the Group and classified as financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss. The Group diversifies its portfolio to manage its price risk arising from investments in unit trusts. 
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The fair values of the investments are based on current exit price. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss.

The reasonable possible changes in market value of the Group’s investments have been assessed to range from +/- 10% (2019: 
+/-10%). The impact of these changes on the post-tax profit would be +/- $40.6 million (2019: +/- $43.6 million). 

ii. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk to the Group’s earnings and capital arising from changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest 
rate risk exposure results primarily from repricing risk or differences in the repricing characteristics of its financial assets and 
liabilities. An instrument’s repricing period is a term used to describe how an interest rate sensitive instrument responds to 
changes in interest rates. It refers to the time it takes an instrument’s interest rate to reflect a change in market interest rates. 
For fixed rate instruments, the repricing period is equal to the maturity of the instrument’s principal, because the principal is 
considered to reprice only when reinvested in a new instrument. For floating rate instruments, the repricing period is the period 
of time before interest rates adjust to the market value.

The Group’s financial assets consist primarily of cash, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, fixed rate loan receivables 
with maturities ranging from 12 to 84 months and fixed rate lease receivables with maturities ranging from 6 to 84 months. 

The financial liabilities funding these receivables consist primarily of fixed rate secured notes with maturities ranging from 6 to 
48 months and fixed rate borrowings on the subscription agreement with maturities up to 180 days that renew automatically at 
the option of the Group during the term of the subscription agreement. Secured notes issued under the new prospectus have 
maturities ranging from 6 to 24 months. Existing secured notes with more than 24 months maturity can only be rolled over for 
24 months upon maturity. 

Due to the mismatch in the maturities of its receivables and the financial liabilities funding these receivables, the Group is 
exposed to repricing risk. The impact on equity and pre-tax profit of reasonable possible changes in the interest rate over 
the next 12 months between -/+ 0 and 50 basis points (2019: between -/+ 0 and 50 basis points), with all other variables 
held constant is -/+ $0.2 million (2019:- /+ $0.4 million).

13. Fair Value Measurement

a. Fair value hierarchy
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has classified its assets 
and liabilities into levels of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

• Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and

• Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

i. Recognised fair value measurements
The following table presents the Group’s assets measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2020.

Notes
Level 2 
$m

Level 3 
$m

Total 
$m

June 2020
Assets
Unit trusts – unlisted 10 455.3 26.4 481.7
Land and buildings 4 - 790.8 790.8
Investment properties 7 - 83.8 83.8

455.3 901.0 1,356.3

June 2019
Assets
Unit trusts – unlisted 10 549.8 - 549.8
Land and buildings 4 - 736.4 736.4
Investment properties 7 - 65.5 65.5

549.8 801.9 1,351.7

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting period.

ii. Disclosed fair values
The Group also has the following assets and liabilities which are not measured at fair value but for which fair values are disclosed 
in the notes:

• the carrying amount of loan and lease receivables, secured notes and subscription agreement approximates their fair value 
as the impact of discounting is not significant;

• the carrying amount of trade receivables and payables approximates their fair value due to their short term nature.

b. Valuation techniques and inputs used to derive level 2 and level 3 fair values 
The fair value of unlisted unit trusts is based on exit price which is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a 
variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. Quoted market 
prices of the underlying instruments are used to estimate fair value of majority (approx. 95%) (2019: 100%) of the unlisted unit 
trusts. The fair value of the remaining unlisted unit trusts is based on independent valuations of the underlying instruments. 
The valuations are based on discounted cash flow methodology using some observable market inputs. 

The fair value of land and buildings and investment properties are based on independent assessments made by members of 
the Australian Property Institute. The Group obtained independent valuations for all properties for the year ended 30 June 2020. 
Previously, independent valuations for each property were obtained on a rolling basis at least every five years with the most recent 
valuation being 28 February 2019. Valuations obtained for all land and buildings as at 30 June 2020 include a material valuation 
uncertainty due to the outbreak of COVID-19. COVID-19 impacts on land and buildings valuations have been estimated between 
12-15% due to forecasted lower occupancy and ADR for Year 1 and Year 2. Subsequent to these valuations, Victoria was placed 
in a state of emergency which resulted in an extended lockdown and delayed the re-opening of clubs and resorts. These events 
would have an impact on the valuations performed as at 30 June 2020.

The discount rate applied is based on investors’ current return expectations. The resulting valuations are compared to current 
sales prices in an active market for similar properties in the same location and condition. Land and buildings and investment 
properties discount rate includes a 0.25% premium on pre-COVID-19 discount rates. 

c. Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)
The following table presents changes in level 3 recurring fair value measurements:

Unit trusts 
- unlisted 
$m

Land and 
buildings 
$m

Investment 
properties  
$m

Total 
$m

June 2020
Opening balance 1 July 2019 - 736.4 65.5  801.9
Additions 25.4 17.8 - 43.2
Disposals - (0.5) - (0.5)
Transfers - 26.3 0.5 26.8
Depreciation - (21.4) - (21.4)
Revaluation increment 1.0 32.2  17.8 51.0
Closing balance 30 June 2020 26.4 790.8 83.8 901.0
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Unit trusts 
- unlisted 
$m

Land and 
buildings 
$m

Investment 
properties  
$m

Total 
$m

Total gain/(loss) for the period recognised 
in the consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 1.0 (22.2) 17.8 (3.4)
Total gain for the period recognised in the 
consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income - 54.4 - 54.4

Contingent 
consideration 
$

Land and 
buildings 
$m

Investment 
properties  
$m

Total 
$m

June 2019
Opening balance 1 July 2018 6.6 695.6 65.7 767.9
Additions - 3.1 - 3.1
Disposals (6.6) (1.0) (0.4) (8.0)
Transfers - 13.5 - 13.5
Depreciation and impairment - (2.9) - (2.9)
Revaluation (decrement)/increment - 28.1 0.2 28.3
Closing balance 30 June 2019 - 736.4 65.5 801.9

Total gain for the period recognised in the 
consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss in 
impairment of property, plant and equipment* - 16.9 - 16.9
Total gain for the period recognised 
in the consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income - 18.0 - 18.0

*  Represents unrealised gain/(loss) recognised in the consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss attributable to assets held at the end 
of the reporting period.

d. Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (level 3)
The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in recurring level 3 fair value 
measurements. Refer (b) for the valuation techniques adopted. 

Description
Valuation 
Technique Unobservable Inputs Range of inputs

Relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value 

Land and 
buildings 

Capitalisation Capitalisation rate: 5.75% - 8.75% The higher the capitalisation rate, 
the lower the fair value.

Discounted 
cash flow

Average daily rate (ADR):

Occupancy rate:

Discount rate:

Terminal capitalisation rate:

$170 - $415

56% - 85%

7.25% - 10.25%

6.0% - 8.75%

The higher the ADR, the higher the 
fair value.

The higher the occupancy rate, 
the higher the fair value.

The higher the discount rate and 
terminal capitalisation rate, the 
lower the fair value.

Investment 
property

Capitalisation Core capitalisation rate:

 
Net face rental value:

5.0% - 6.5%

 
$240/m2 - $850/m2

The higher the capitalisation rate, 
the lower the fair value.

The higher the net face rental value, 
the higher the fair value.

Discounted 
cash flow

Discount rate:

Terminal capitalisation rate:

6.25% - 7.5%

5.5% - 7.0%

The higher the discount rate and 
terminal capitalisation rate, the 
lower the fair value.

Direct 
comparison

Sales price per square metre $2,750/m2 - 
$11,250/m2

The higher the sales price per square 
metre, the higher the fair value.

There were no significant inter-relationships between unobservable inputs that materially affect fair value.

e. Valuation processes 
The Group engages external, independent and qualified valuers to determine the fair value of the Group’s investment properties 
and land and buildings. Information about the valuation of land and buildings and investment properties are provided in note 
13(b). Where land and buildings and investment properties are not externally valued in a given year, fair value is re-assessed 
by considering factors such as significant changes to the property, material changes to the local conditions and major macro-
economic shocks. Valuation outcomes are reported to the Audit and Compliance Committee at least annually.

Taxation

14. Income tax expense

a. Income tax

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Current tax expense (2.4) (2.0)
Deferred tax expense (refer note 15) (18.2) (11.6)
Over provided in prior years (1.1) 1.1
Income tax expense (21.7) (12.5)

b. Reconciliation of prima facie income tax
The assessable income of RACV for income tax purposes comprises only certain income deemed to be derived from 
non-member activities. Conversely, allowable deductions for income tax purposes are limited to certain expense and 
statutory deductions.

The prima facie tax on operating profit differs from the income tax provided in the accounts as follows:

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Profit before income tax 25.0 131.0

The prima facie tax expense on operating profit before income tax @ 30% (7.5) (39.3)

Tax effect of amounts which are not taxable/(deductible) in calculating income tax:

Over provision for tax from previous year (1.1) 1.1
Profit attributable to activities for the mutual benefit of members 5.3 7.0
Share of net profit of equity accounted investments 20.0 30.9
Sundry items 0.1 -
Prior year tax losses derecognised (23.2) (12.2)
Current year tax losses derecognised (15.3) -

Income tax expense attributable to operating profit (21.7) (12.5)

c. Tax expense relating to items of other comprehensive income
Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not recognised in net profit or loss but directly debited or 
credited to other comprehensive income:

Net deferred tax credited directly to other comprehensive income (refer note 15) (5.5) (1.3)

d. Tax consolidation
RACV and its wholly owned subsidiaries are parties to a tax sharing agreement and a tax funding agreement. The tax sharing 
agreement, in the opinion of the directors, limits the joint and several liability of the wholly owned subsidiaries in the case of default 
by RACV.

Under the tax funding agreement, the wholly owned subsidiaries fully compensate RACV for any current tax payable assumed 
and are compensated by RACV for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax 
credits that are transferred to RACV under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts will be determined by reference 
to the amounts recognised in the wholly owned subsidiaries’ Financial Statements.
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e. Income tax contributions
RACV continues to contribute significantly to Australia’s tax base across all applicable federal and state taxes. With respect to 
income tax, a major component of RACV’s profit comes from its investments in associates where the dividend income is received 
on a fully franked basis meaning income tax is paid at source. The amount of income tax paid on RACV’s dividend component was 
$40.2 million during the financial year (2019: $33.9 million).

15. Deferred Tax Assets

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Property, plant and equipment 11.4 12.9
Employee benefits 6.4 7.1
Superannuation plan (1.1) (1.4)
Borrowing costs 0.1 -
Unearned income and contract liabilities 21.1 24.8
Financial assets 9.7 0.3
Finance leases (1.1) (2.4)
Intangible assets 3.5 2.3
Tax losses and credits - 24.3
Other 1.3 2.7

51.3 70.6

Amounts recognised directly in other comprehensive income

Revaluation of property (23.3) (15.0)
Superannuation plan 10.0 7.2

(13.3) (7.8)

Net deferred tax assets 38.0 62.8

Movements
Opening balance 62.8 50.6
Under provision from prior year (1.1) 1.5
Debited to the consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss (18.2) (11.6)
Credited to equity (5.4) (1.3)
Change in accounting policy - AASB 15 - 23.2
Other (0.1) 0.4
Closing balance 38.0 62.8

a. Accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements: Income taxes
The Group assesses the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on detailed financial forecasts. When assessing the 
recoverability of the deferred tax assets, the directors consider the expected profitability of non-mutual activities, prevailing 
economic conditions and investment return rates. 

The Group has recognised deferred tax liabilities for capital gains under the Capital Gains Tax regime on unrealised tax gains that 
would arise on disposal of its financial assets at current tax rates. This is in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 
26(e).

The Group recognises deferred tax assets relating to carried forward tax to the extent there are sufficient future tax liabilities and 
taxable temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities) relating to the same taxation authority. However, utilisation of the tax losses 
also depends on the ability of the Group to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are recouped. The Group assessed there 
was insufficient future tax liabilities and taxable temporary differences as at 30 June 2020 and de-recognised $24.3 million of 
deferred tax assets and recognised an income tax expense for both prior years and current year tax losses de-recognised of 
$38.6 million (2019: $24.3m carried forward tax losses recognised). The unrecognised deferred tax asset for unused carried 
forward tax losses at 30 June 2020 is $107.9 million.

Remuneration and Benefits

16. Key Management Personnel
Key management personnel compensation comprises:

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Short-term benefits 6,912 7,566
Post-employment benefits 360 372
Long-term benefits 462 848

7,734 8,786

Key management personnel of the Group

The key management personnel of the Group comprise all directors of RACV and the executives having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. At 30 June 2020, in addition to the eleven directors, 
nine executives were included as key management personnel (30 June 2019: twelve directors, nine executives). 

Transactions with key management personnel of the wholly owned Group

The key management personnel of RACV have normal business transactions with various controlled entities including the use of 
various facilities available to them as members and reimbursement of travelling expenses. These transactions include insurance, 
secured note investments and finance loans and leases with the wholly owned Group’s Finance Company and minor sales of 
products and services. All these transactions are conducted on a commercial basis on conditions no more beneficial than those 
available to members or employees.

17. Superannuation Benefits
Upon joining the Group, new employees are able to choose whether to join the defined contribution section of the RACV 
Superannuation Fund (Plan) or an alternative fund. All Members of the Plan are entitled to benefits on resignation, retirement, 
ill health, disability or death. 

The Plan has both a defined benefit section and a defined contribution section. The defined benefit section provides defined 
benefits based on years of membership and final average salary for those members employed prior to 1 March 1998 and who 
elected to remain defined benefit members. The defined contribution section receives fixed contributions from Group companies 
and the Group’s legal or constructive obligation is limited to these contributions for this section of the Plan. 

Plan assets are held in trust which is subject to supervision by the prudential regulator. Funding levels are reviewed regularly. 
Where assets are less than vested benefits, being those payable upon exit, a management plan must be formed to restore the 
coverage to at least 100%. 

Responsibility for governance of the Plan, including investment decisions and plan rules rests with the Board of Trustees of the 
Plan. Contribution levels are also the responsibility of the trustee, although these are usually set in consultation with the employer. 
Disclosures for the Plan are shown below:

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Fair value of superannuation Plan assets 175.9 189.0
Present value of the defined benefit obligation (82.0) (74.8)
Present value of the defined contribution obligation (123.8) (133.6)
Superannuation plan liability in the Balance Sheet (29.9) (19.4)

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation:

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Opening present value 74.8 69.9
Current service cost 1.3 1.3
Interest expense 2.0 2.1
Actuarial loss arising from changes in financial assumptions 8.2 6.3
Contributions by Plan participants 0.1 0.1
Benefits, administrative costs and tax paid (4.4) (4.9)
Closing present value 82.0 74.8
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Movement in the fair value of Plan assets (including defined contribution plan):

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Opening fair value 189.0 191.5
Interest income 1.4 1.7
Actuarial return on Plan assets, less interest income (1.0) 1.7
Contributions by employer 0.6 0.7
Contributions by Plan participants 0.1 0.1
Benefits, administrative costs and tax paid (4.4) (4.9)
Movement in vested benefits in respect of defined contribution Members (9.8) (1.8)
Closing fair value 175.9 189.0

Group Structure
18. Subsidiaries 

Equity interest held by the 
consolidated entity

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Ltd.1

• RACV Holdings Pty. Ltd. 100 100
 - RACV Insurance Services Pty. Ltd.1 100 100
 - R.A.C.V. Finance Limited1 100 100
 - RACV Investment Holdings Pty. Ltd. 100 100
 - RACV Security Pty. Ltd. 100 100
 - Intelematics Australia Pty Limited 100 100
 - Club Tasmania Holdings Pty Ltd 100 100
 - Club Home Response Pty Ltd 100 100

• Gippsland Solar Pty Ltd 100 -
• Gippsland Heating & Cooling Pty Ltd 100 -
• Nationwide Group Pty Ltd1 51 51
• Property Safe Investments Pty Limited 100 100

1  These controlled entities have not been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with ASIC Corporations 
(Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC). 

19. Business Combinations

Acquisitions in 2020
a. Summary of acquisition
On 13 December 2019, RACV Ltd acquired 100% equity shares of Gippsland Solar Pty Ltd and Gippsland Heating & Cooling Pty 
Ltd, solar retail and installation companies for total consideration of $14.7 million. 

The acquired businesses contributed revenue of $14.2 million and operating loss of $0.6 million during the 2020 financial year. If 
the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2019, the consolidated revenue and loss for the year ended 30 June 2020 would have been 
$24.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies. As at 30 
June 2020, the accounting for this acquisition has been provisionally determined as the post-close adjustment process remains 
in progress.

Details of the fair value of the net assets acquired and goodwill on business acquisition are as follows:

Gippsland 
Solar 
$m

Purchase consideration 
Cash paid 10.3
Contingent consideration 4.4

Total purchase consideration 14.7
Less: Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (2.7)
Goodwill on business acquisition 12.0

b. Purchase consideration

Gippsland 
Solar 
$m

Outflow of cash on purchase of business: 
Cash consideration 10.3
Contingent consideration -

Outflow of cash 10.3

Acquisition related costs

Acquisition related costs of $0.2 million were included in other expenses in the consolidated Income Statement and in payments 
to suppliers and employees in the consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

c. Assets and liabilities acquired

Gippsland 
Solar 
$m

Cash 0.8
Receivables 2.0
Inventory 1.3
Plant and equipment 1.2
Right-of-use assets 2.1
Goodwill 12.0
Intangibles 1.2
Other assets 1.1
Payables (3.2)
Interest bearing liabilities (3.4)
Provisions (0.4)

14.7

There were no business acquisitions that occurred in 2019 financial year. 
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20. Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method 

a. Carrying amounts
All associates are measured using the equity method and have a reporting date of 30 June. The country of incorporation is also 
their principal place of business. The proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

Ownership 
interest

Consolidated 
carrying 
amount

Name Principal activity
Place of 
Business

2020 
%

2019 
%

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Associates
Insurance Manufacturers of Australia Pty 
Limited (IMA) 

General insurance Australia 30 30 271.3 295.4

Australian Motoring Services Pty Ltd (AMS) Assistance services Australia 24 24 3.9 3.6
Club Assets Pty Ltd (Club Assets) Assistance services Australia 501 501 33.7 27.4
Vehicle Repairhub Pty Limited (Repairhub) Vehicle repair services Australia 27 27 5.5 6.4
iBuildNew Australia Pty Ltd Property services Australia 27 - 3.1 -
Deep Blue Company Pty Ltd Conveyancing services Australia 13 - 19.9 -
Tripfuser Pty Ltd Tourism Australia 20 - 2.9 -
Real Estate Agent Select Limited Property services Australia 20 - 3.0 -

343.3 332.8
Joint ventures 
Intelematics Europe Limited (IEU) Telematics services United 

Kingdom -  32 - 0.2

Property Safe Holdings Pty Ltd (Property Safe) Property services Australia 32 32 8.3 8.2
Euclidic Systems Pty Ltd Telematics services Australia 27 - 1.6 -

353.2 341.2

1  For the purposes of this disclosure, the 50% ownership interest in Club Assets is equivalent to a beneficial 37.5% (2019: 37.5%) ownership 
interest in the net assets of the underlying investment.

Associates and joint ventures are strategic investments for the Group and complement the services provided by the general 
insurance, emergency roadside assistance and home businesses.

b. Movements in carrying amount of investments in associates 
and joint ventures

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Opening balance 341.2 308.3
Increase in investment in associates and joint ventures 36.0 6.4
Divestment in associate and joint ventures (0.2) -
Share of profits after income tax 66.8 102.7
Impairment (3.6) -
Dividend received/receivable (87.3) (76.1)
Changes to retained earnings 0.3 (0.1)
Closing balance 353.2 341.2

i. Deep Blue Company Pty Ltd
The Group holds a 13% interest in Deep Blue Company Pty Ltd. At 30 June 2020, the Group recorded a $3.6 million impairment in 
the carrying value of the investment due to economic uncertainty as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The recoverable amount 
of the investment was calculated using the discounted cash flow method. Following the impairment charge, the recoverable 
amount of the investment is equal to the carrying amount. Therefore, any adverse change in Deep Blue Company’s performance 
may result in further impairment. The impairment charge was recognised as an impairment expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss.

c. Summarised financial information for associates 
The table below presents summarised financial information for associates that are material to the Group. The information 
disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant associates.

IMA Other associates1

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Balance Sheet 
Total assets 4,831.9 4,603.4 295.4 184.9
Total liabilities 3,927.4 3,618.6 159.8 101.8
Net assets 904.5 984.8 135.6 83.1
Reconciliation to carrying amount
Opening net assets 1 July 984.8 899.2 83.1 80.9
Increase in investment in associated and joint ventures - - 59.5 -
Profit after tax for the period 212.7 327.2 (7.0) 12.1
Other comprehensive income (1.8) (1.6) - -
Dividends paid (291.1) (239.8) - (11.0)
Share of reserves movement charged to retained earnings (0.1) (0.2) - 1.1
Closing net assets 30 June 904.5 984.8 135.6 83.1

Group’s share of closing net assets 30 June 271.3 295.4 41.4 37.4
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Revenue 3,412.6 3,344.3 453.4 197.5

Profit after tax for the period 212.7 327.2 (7.0) 12.1
Other comprehensive income (1.8) (1.6) - -
Total comprehensive income 30 June 210.9 325.6 (7.0) 12.1

1 Refer to note 20(a) for details of other associates.

21. Parent Entity Financial Information

a. Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Limited, the parent entity, show the following 
aggregate amounts:

RACV
2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Loss for the year (96.4) (37.9)

Total comprehensive loss (57.3) (29.4)

Balance Sheet

Current assets 507.8 504.8

Total assets 1,612.7 1,468.4

Current liabilities 1,259.6 1,080.2

Total liabilities 1,311.2 1,111.8

Equity
Asset revaluation reserve 156.8 111.3
Retained earnings 144.7 245.3
Equity attributed to members of RACV Group 301.5 356.6

Total equity 301.5 356.6
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b. Financial guarantees entered into by Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Limited
Cross guarantees are provided by RACV and each of its wholly owned subsidiaries within the Closed Group as described in 
note 25. No deficiencies of assets exist in the Closed Group. 

R.A.C.V. Finance Limited has a commitment from RACV Limited for an increase in its capital base by $10.0 million should the 
secured liabilities to tangible assets ratio reach 83.5% as described in note 11(a). In addition, R.A.C.V. Finance Limited has a 
$20.0 million line of credit with RACV Limited to support its short term funding needs. This remains undrawn at the reporting date.

No liability was recognised by the Group or RACV in respect of these guarantees.

c. Contingent liabilities of Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Limited
RACV has agreed to support various Group subsidiaries to ensure their debts are paid as and when they fall due (refer to note 25).

d. Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
As at 30 June 2020, Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Limited had contractual commitments for the acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment totalling $14.1 million (2019: $4.4 million). These commitments relate to Property related works 
and member experience improvement project (2019: Property related works and member experience improvement project).

Further Details

22. Members’ Equity

a. Members’ reserves 

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Asset revaluation reserve 159.9 113.6
Transactions with non-controlling interests - -

159.9 113.6

Movements:

Opening balance 113.6 98.6
Revaluation – gross 54.4 18.0
Deferred tax (8.3) (2.7)
Transfer from/(to) retained earnings 0.2 (0.3)
Closing balance attributable to members of RACV Group 159.9 113.6

b. Nature and purpose of reserves 

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of properties as described in note 26(l).

Transactions with non-controlling interests

This reserve is used to record changes in the ownership interest in a subsidiary company that do not result in a loss of control. 

c. Retained earnings

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Opening balance 1,649.6 1,594.6
Net profit attributable to members of RACV Group for the year 0.6 116.3
Superannuation plan remeasurements (9.2) (4.6)
Deferred tax on superannuation plan 2.8 1.4
Foreign currency translations of foreign operations - (0.1)
Deferred tax on foreign currency translations of foreign operations - -
Transactions with non-controlling interests - (4.0)
Transfer (to)/from reserves (0.2) 0.3
Change in associate retained earnings 0.3 (0.1)
Adjustment on initial application of AASB 15 - (54.2)
Adjustment on initial application of AASB 16 (0.2) -
Closing balance attributable to members of RACV Group 1,643.7 1,649.6

d. Capital risk management 
The Group’s objective when managing members’ equity (capital) is to protect the financial viability and sustainability of the Group 
and to ensure sufficient funds continue to be available to deliver member services and carry out business plans and initiatives. 
The Group’s capital management is focused on monitoring balance sheet strength and flexibility using liquidity projections (refer 
to note 12(b)) and detailed budgeting processes.

e. Membership 

Number of Members
2020 2019

Membership category
Ordinary (Club) 27,968 27,145
Service 1,457,734 1,510,289
Total voting members 1,485,702 1,537,434

Relationship members 692,078 657,103
Associate Corporate and Honorary Club members 4,836 4,267
Total members 2,182,616 2,198,804

RACV operates as a company limited by guarantee with the liability of any member not exceeding $6.30. The number of voting 
members represents the total number of members who are entitled to a vote. 

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Service members and Ordinary (Club) members are entitled to vote in a Service 
election whilst only Ordinary (Club) members are entitled to vote in an Ordinary (Club) election. Associate Corporate and Honorary 
Club members and Relationship members are not entitled to a vote under the Articles.

23. Related Party Transactions
The Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Limited is the ultimate controlling entity.

a. The following related party transactions occurred during the financial year:

Transactions with related parties within the wholly owned Group

Administrative and other service charges are made within the Group on commercial terms and conditions. All material 
transactions with associate companies are made on commercial terms and conditions.

Transactions with other related parties

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Commission and other revenue
IMA 119,933 110,502
Club Assets 34,127 -

Subscription and other revenue
AMS 7,781 7,524
IEU 658 1,009

Superannuation expenses
RACV Superannuation Fund 8,410 9,374

Other expenses
Club Assets 26,123 27,108
IEU 97 780

Current receivables
IMA 11,064 10,216
Club Assets 3,191 -
Property Safe - 700

Current payables
IMA 5,793 8,011
Club Assets - 1,076
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b. Ownership interests in related parties
Interests held in the following classes of related parties are set out in the following notes:

i. Subsidiaries - note 18
ii. Associates and joint ventures - note 20

24. Auditor’s Remuneration

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

During the year, the following fees were paid or payable to the auditor:
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Audit and review of consolidated financial reports of RACV and the 
financial reports of its subsidiaries

751 622

Other services 146 99
Total remuneration 897 721

It is RACV’s policy to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where 
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ expertise and experience with RACV are important. These assignments are principally audit and 
other services, or where PricewaterhouseCoopers is awarded assignments on a competitive basis. It is RACV’s policy to seek 
competitive tenders for all major consulting projects. 

25. Deed of Cross Guarantee
RACV and each of its wholly owned subsidiaries indicated in note 18, excluding RACV Insurance Services Pty. Ltd. and R.A.C.V. 
Finance Limited (2019: RACV Insurance Services Pty. Ltd., R.A.C.V. Finance Limited) are parties to a Deed of Cross Guarantee 
(Deed) under which each company guarantees the debts of the others. By entering into the Deed, these wholly owned 
subsidiaries have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and Directors’ report under ASIC Corporations 
(Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. 

These companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Instrument and, as there are no other parties to the Deed 
that are controlled by RACV, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’. Set out below is a condensed consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss, Statement of Comprehensive Income, summary of movements in retained earnings and a Balance 
Sheet of the Closed Group, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed. 

Closed Group

Condensed Statement of Profit or Loss
2020 
$m

2019 
$m

(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities before income tax (22.0) 95.3
Income tax expense (8.4) (1.3)
(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities after income tax (30.4) 94.0
Condensed Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities after income tax  (30.4) 94.0
Other comprehensive loss 2.7 12.0
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (27.7) 106.0

Movement in retained earnings
Opening balance 1,559.3 1,516.9
Assumption of entities to/from the “Closed Group” - 0.2
(Loss)/profit from ordinary activities after income tax (30.4) 94.0
Superannuation plan actuarial remeasurements, net of tax (6.4) (3.2)
FX translations of foreign operations, net of tax - (0.1)
Transfer from reserves - 0.3
Change in associate reserves/retained earnings (0.3) (0.1)
Acquisition of subsidiaries - (4.0)
Dividends received/paid by group companies 2.6 (0.2)
Adjustment on initial application of AASB 15 -  (44.5)
Retained earnings at the end of the financial year 1,524.8 1,559.3

Closed Group

Balance Sheet
2020 
$m

2019 
$m

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 26.6 25.1
Receivables 9.7 7.2
Inventories 5.6 6.4
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 33.5 42.7
Prepayments and accruals 35.9 27.1
Other current asset 0.5 -
Total current assets 111.8 108.5

Non-current assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 467.6 529.1
Investments accounted for using the equity method 353.2 341.2
Property, plant and equipment 843.9 791.5
Right-of-use assets 10.9 -
Investment properties 83.8 65.5
Intangible assets 140.8 95.1
Deferred tax assets 32.3 59.5
Total non-current assets 1,932.5 1,881.9

Total assets 2,044.3 1,990.4

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 87.8 73.9
Interest bearing liabilities 3.4 -
Provisions 56.0 42.3
Unearned income and contract liabilities 128.7 127.3
Total current liabilities 275.9 243.5

Non-current liabilities

Superannuation benefits 29.9 19.4
Interest bearing liabilities 7.8 -
Provisions 4.1 5.1
Unearned income and contract liabilities 41.9 49.5
Total non-current liabilities 83.7 74.0

Total liabilities 359.6 317.5

Net assets 1,684.7 1,672.9

Members’ equity

Member reserves 159.9 113.6
Retained earnings 1,524.8 1,559.3

Total members’ equity 1,684.7 1,672.9
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26. Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial report is for the consolidated entity (the 
Group) consisting of Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (“RACV”) Limited (“RACV”) and its subsidiaries.

a. Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The Group is a 
for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.

Compliance with AASB

The consolidated Financial Statements of the Group also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Historical cost convention

These consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation 
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and liabilities, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and investment 
property.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional and presentation currency 
of the Group.

Accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

In preparing these consolidated Financial Statements management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectation of future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the consolidated Financial Statements are disclosed in the following notes:

• Provision for impairment of loan, lease receivables – refer note 2(b);

• Estimated impairment of goodwill, customer contracts and software in development – note 6; and

• Income taxes – refer note 15.

Reclassification of prior year amounts

Where material, comparative amounts have been reclassified to ensure consistency with the current reporting period. 

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards that are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 July 2019. 

• AASB 16 Leases 

The Group has changed its accounting policies as a result of adopting AASB 16. The Group elected to adopt the new rules 
retrospectively but recognised the cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard on 1 July 2019. This is disclosed in 
note 26(y). 

Early adoption of standards

The Group has not elected to apply any pronouncements before their operative date in the annual reporting period beginning 
1 July 2019.

b. Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of RACV as at 30 June 2020 
and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. RACV and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial 
report as the Group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct 
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The entities controlled by RACV are set out in note 18. The purchase method 
of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group (refer note 26(f)).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Investments in 
subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual statements of RACV.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated Statement of Profit or 
Loss, consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, consolidated Balance Sheet and consolidated Statement of Changes 
in Equity respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally accompanying 
a shareholding between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for in the relevant 
parent entity Financial Statements using the cost method and in the Group’s Financial Statements using the equity method of 
accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. 

The Group’s share of associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss, and its share 
of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted 
against the carrying amount of the investment. Dividends receivable from associates are recognised in the relevant parent entity’s 
Statement of Profit or Loss, while in the consolidated Financial Statements they reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate is equal or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured 
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assets 
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with policies adopted 
by the Group.

c. Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers comprise subscription and entrance fee income, commission income, club and resorts 
trading income, towing income, other trading income, traffic content income and sale of goods. 

Revenue is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the customer and requires the identification of discrete 
performance obligations within a customer contract and an associated transaction price that is allocated to these obligations. 
Revenue is recognised upon satisfaction of these performance obligations, which occur when control of the goods or services 
is transferred to the customer.

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers is outlined below: 

Revenue stream Contract deliverables Timing of recognition 
Subscription fee 
income 

Provision of motoring, home 
and leisure services 

Annual subscriptions are prepaid and recognised over time and on a 
straight-line basis as the customer receives the benefit of access to 
the services. 

The portion of subscriptions received, which relates to the period 
after the reporting date, are included in the consolidated Financial 
Statements as unearned income.

Provision of traffic related 
services 

Revenue is recognised over time and on a straight-line basis as the 
customer receives the benefit of access to the traffic services over 
the life of the contract. 

Provision of RACV Member 
benefits 

Customers of renewable subscription based services also become 
RACV members and are granted access to a range of member 
benefits. RACV membership is valued on a standalone selling price 
and the related revenue portion is recognised over time and on 
a straight-line basis in line with the relevant service provided.

Entrance fee income Right to future services and 
benefits under the scheme 

Non-refundable entrance fees are received in advance and 
recognised over time and on a straight-line basis according 
to the expected membership renewal period or on cancellation 
of membership.
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Revenue stream Contract deliverables Timing of recognition 
Commission income Sale of insurance, motoring 

and travel products 
Recognised at the point in time the customer has purchased the 
product, less an amount for expected refund obligations, based on 
historical policy cancellation trends. 

Provision of RACV member 
benefits 

Customers of renewable insurance products also become RACV 
members and are granted access to a range of member benefits. 
RACV membership is valued on a standalone selling price and the 
related revenue portion is recognised over time and on a straight-line 
basis in line with the relevant service provided. 

Club and resorts 
trading income and 
other trading income 

Sale of product or service 
provided 

Recognised at the point in time the goods are transferred and the 
customer has control, or at the point in time the service is provided, 
net of any applicable returns and refunds. 

Traffic content 
income 

Provision of traffic content Revenue is recognised over time and on a straight-line basis as the 
customer receives the benefit of access to the traffic content over the 
life of the contract. 

Towing income Provision of towing service Recognised at the point in time the towing service has been provided 
and based on a fixed pricing structure. 

Sale of goods Sale of goods Recognised at the point in time the goods are transferred and the 
customer has control, less an amount for expected returns. 

Revenue streams paid in advance and recognised over time for services not performed at reporting date are recognised as a 
contract liability.

Other investment income 

Other investment income comprises interest and rental income. All interest is recognised as the interest accrues using the 
effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument. Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Trust distributions

Revenue from trust distributions is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.

d. Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Total Government grant income for the year ended 30 June 
2020 is $26.9 million and relates to the JobKeeper scheme. The income has been presented on a net basis in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss in ‘employee benefits expense’. 

e. Income tax 
Income tax for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax is recognised in the profit and loss, except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided in full, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the Financial Statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences relating to: 

i. initial recognition of goodwill
ii. initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting 

nor taxable profit 
iii. investment in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities where the Group is able to control the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based 
on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and when the tax 
balances are related to taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Group intends to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Tax consolidation

RACV and its wholly owned and controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. The head entity, RACV 
and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. 

Each entity in the tax consolidated Group measures these tax amounts using the Group allocation approach.

Under the Group allocation approach, the tax effect of intercompany transactions is recognised within each wholly owned and 
controlled entity. 

Assets or liabilities arising under the tax funding agreement with RACV are recognised as amounts due to/from controlled 
entities. Any differences between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement 
are recognised as a contribution to or distribution from wholly owned tax consolidated entities (refer note 14). 

f. Acquisition of assets
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all acquisitions of assets (including business combinations) regardless 
of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given or liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition, except in business combinations 
where acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. In business combinations, contingent payments are included in the 
purchase consideration at their fair value. Contingent payments classified as debt are subsequently remeasured through profit 
and loss.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially 
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill (refer note 26(o)). If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of 
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the Statement of Profit or Loss, but only after 
a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired. 

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value 
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. 

g. Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired and are carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell or value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

h. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions. Bank overdrafts are 
presented in cash and cash equivalents when the entities are party to the Group’s set-off agreement, otherwise they are shown 
within interest bearing liabilities in current liabilities on the Balance Sheet. For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash 
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

i. Receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Classification

The Group has classified its financial assets into receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Classification 
is dependent on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification at initial 
recognition.

Receivables

Receivables comprise principally consumer loans, leases and trade receivables. 

Consumer loans and trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. The initial direct transaction costs and fee revenue relating 
to consumer loans are included in the initial measurement of the loan.

Lease receivables are recorded at their recoverable amount, an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The net 
investment in the lease is equal to the minimum lease payments receivable under the lease plus any unguaranteed residual 
accruing to the Group discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off. 
Receivables are deemed to be uncollectable when certain characteristics are present. These include: arrears greater than 
180 days with no payment within the last three months, total payments in the last six months lower than one contractual 
monthly repayment or customer under a Part IX Debt Agreement. A provision for impairment is established based on the 
expected credit loss model outlined in note 12(a). 
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise unit trust investments and contingent consideration designated to 
this category. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months 
of the reporting date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised on trade date at fair value plus transaction costs and 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired or have been transferred and the Group 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. The fair values of the investments are based on current exit 
price. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss. 

j. Inventories
Inventories comprising finished goods and supplies used in the provision of club and resorts services are stated at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the basis of first in first out. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less estimated selling costs.

k. Other assets
Other assets are carried at nominal amounts due, less any provision for impairment. A provision for impairment is established 
based on the expected credit loss model. Other assets are generally settled within 30-day terms.

l. Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings (except for investment properties – refer note 26(n)) are shown at fair value, based on annual valuations 
(previously at least every five years) by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings and freehold 
land improvements. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of 
the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other plant and equipment, including assets in 
the course of construction, are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses where applicable. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated on a straight-line 
basis to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings and land improvements 15 to 40 years (2019: 15 to 40 years) 
Computer and communication equipment  2 to 10 years (2019: 2 to 10 years) 
Plant and equipment 2 to 25 years (2019: 2 to 25 years)

Where carrying values exceed recoverable amount, assets are written down (refer note 26(g)). Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss. When 
revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the assets are transferred to retained 
earnings.

m. Leases
The Group has changed its accounting policy for leases where the Group is the lessee. The new policy and impact are described 
in note 26(y). Until 30 June 2019 leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee, had substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership were classified as finance leases. 

Finance leases were capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, were included in other short-term and 
long-term payables. Each lease payment was allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost was charged to 
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases was depreciated over the asset’s useful life, or over 
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership at 
the end of the lease term. 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership were not transferred to the Group as lessee were 
classified as operating leases (note 27). Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) 
were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term (note 27(a)). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying 
asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are 
included in the balance sheet based on their nature. 

The Group did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new 
leasing standard. 

n. Investment properties
Investment properties are held for long term rental yields and are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties are carried at 
fair value, based on annual valuations (previously at least every five years) determined by external independent valuers. Changes 
in fair value are recorded in the Statement of Profit or Loss.

o. Intangible assets
Intangible assets include customer contracts, goodwill, software and software in development. These assets, except for software, 
are deemed to have an indefinite useful life and as a result are subject to impairment testing (refer to note 26(g)).

Customer contracts

Customer contracts are recognised where the legal rights attached to customer relationships can be reliably measured and are 
expected to provide future economic benefits to the Group as identified at the date of acquisition. These are measured at fair 
value at the date of acquisition. Subsequent to acquisition, customer contracts are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over 16 years. Where carrying values exceed recoverable amounts, 
customer contracts are written down to their recoverable amount. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of customer contracts relating to the entity sold. 

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of 
the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of 
goodwill relating to the entity sold. 

Software

Costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to future financial benefits through revenue generation 
and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software. Costs capitalised include external direct costs of materials and services, and 
an appropriate portion of directly attributable employee costs and overheads. Software has a finite useful life and is stated at 
historical cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over periods generally ranging 
from 2 to 7 years (2019: 2 to 7 years). Where carrying values exceed recoverable amounts, assets are written down to their 
recoverable amount.

Software in development

Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to 
future financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software. Costs capitalised include 
external direct costs of materials and services and an appropriate portion of directly attributable employee costs and overheads. 
Software in development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase and are only recognised 
following completion of technical feasibility and where the Group has an intention and ability to use the asset. 

p. Employee benefits 

Wages and salaries and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries and accumulating sick leave that are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service, are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the 
reporting period and are measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at expected pay rates in respect of employees’ 
services up to that date. 

Long service leave and annual leave

Liabilities for long service leave and annual leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period 
in which the employees render the related service. They are therefore recognised and included in the employee entitlements 
liability and are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using corporate bonds with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the Balance Sheet if the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

Incentive plans

A liability for incentive plans is recognised and included in employee entitlements liability when there is no realistic alternative 
but to settle the liability and at least one of the following conditions are met:

i. there are formal terms in the plan for determining the amount of the benefit;
ii. the amounts to be paid are determined before the time of completion of the financial report; or
iii. past practice gives clear evidence of the amount of the obligation.
Liabilities for incentive plans are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled. Amounts payable under 
long term incentive plans are discounted using corporate bond rates with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.
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Superannuation benefits

The RACV Superannuation Fund (Plan) exists to provide benefits to employees of the Group on resignation, retirement, disability 
or death. RACV operates one fund but with two superannuation sections, a defined contribution section and a defined benefit 
section. 

RACV subsidiaries do not recognise a plan asset/liability or defined benefit costs in their Financial Statements. The 
superannuation plan asset/liability and costs are recognised in the Financial Statements of RACV, which is the principal employer 
of the Plan. 

A liability or asset in respect of the defined benefit section is recognised in the Balance Sheet and is measured as the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of the superannuation fund’s assets at that date. 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is based on expected future payments which arise from membership of the 
fund to the reporting date, calculated periodically by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. Consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.

Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity 
and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised 
in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income. They are included in retained earnings in the Statement 
of Changes in Equity and in the Balance Sheet.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as past service costs.

Contributions to the defined contribution section of the Group’s superannuation fund and alternative defined contribution 
superannuation funds are recognised as an expense as they become payable. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset 
to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. Further information on superannuation benefits 
can be found in note 17.

Termination benefits

Liabilities for termination benefits, not in connection with the acquisition of an entity or operation, are recognised at the earlier 
of the following dates: 

i. when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and 
ii. when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 

and Contingent Assets and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Other benefits

All permanent employees are entitled to free Roadside Care upon completion of a three-month qualifying period of employment. 
All employees are entitled to discounted insurance and those with more than one year’s service with RACV are entitled to free 
membership of the RACV Club. Liabilities for other benefits are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are 
settled.

q. Unearned income and contract liabilities
Members’ subscriptions are paid annually in advance throughout the year and are allocated to revenue on an over time basis. 
The portion of subscriptions received, which relate to the period after the reporting date, are included in the consolidated Financial 
Statements as unearned income. Contract liabilities are disclosed in note 9.

r. Payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year which are 
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are normally settled within 30 days. Payables are presented as current liabilities unless 
payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting date. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amount of payables approximates fair value as 
the impact of discounting is not significant.

s. Interest bearing liabilities

Secured notes

Secured notes are initially recorded at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Interest expense is 
recognised using the effective interest method. Details of the terms and conditions are set out in note 11(a).

Subscription agreement

The borrowings on the subscription agreement are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Details of the terms and conditions are set out in note 11(b).

Chattel mortgages 

Refer to note 26(m) and 11(c).

t. Provisions
A provision is recognised where there is a legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, the timing or amount of which is uncertain and the amount 
has been reliably estimated.

u. Financial instrument transaction costs
Transaction costs are included in the carrying amounts of the financial instruments. 

v. Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority. In this case, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from or payable to the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

w. Rounding of amounts
The Group is of a kind referred to in the ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 dated 
24 March 2016, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC), relating to the rounding off of amounts 
in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have been rounded off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest 
hundred thousand dollars, except where otherwise indicated.

x. Parent entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity, Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Limited, disclosed in note 21 has been 
prepared on the same basis as the consolidated Financial Statements.

y. Changes in accounting policies
The Group has adopted AASB 16 Leases retrospectively from 1 July 2019 but has not restated comparatives for the 2019 reporting 
period, as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising 
from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 July 2019. 

On adoption of AASB 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified as 
‘operating leases’ under the principles of AASB 117 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining 
lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 July 2019. The weighted average lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 July 2019 was 3.87%.  

For leases previously classified as finance leases the entity recognised the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease 
liability immediately before transition as the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability at the date of initial 
application. The measurement principles of AASB 16 are only applied after that date. The Group had no finance leases applicable 
under the principles of AASB 16.

Practical expedients applied

In applying AASB 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard: 

i. applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.
ii. relying on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous as an alternative to performing an impairment review – 

there were no onerous contracts as at 1 July 2019.
iii. accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 July 2019 as short-term leases.
iv. excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.
v. using hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.
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Measurement of lease liabilities

1 July 2019 
Restated
$m

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 30 June 2019 14.5
(Less): short-term leases not recognised as a liability (0.3)
Add: adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension and termination option 2.2
(Less): adjustments relating to changes in the index or rate affecting variable payments (0.6)
Lease liability recognised as at 1 July 2019 15.8
Of which are:

Current lease liabilities 4.4
Non-current lease liabilities 11.4

Measurement of right-of-use assets

The associated right-of-use assets for property leases were measured on a retrospective basis as if the new rules had always 
been applied. Other right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of 
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 30 June 2019.

The following table summarises the impacts of adoption AASB 16 on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet (extract) as 
30 June 2019: 

30 June 
2019  
as reported Adjustments

1 July 2019 
Restated

$m $m $m
Right-of-use assets - 15.6 15.6
Lease Liabilities - (15.8) (15.8)
Retained Earnings (1,649.6) 0.2 (1,649.4)

Lessor accounting

The Group did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor under operating leases (see note 27) 
as a result of the adoption of AASB 16.

z. New accounting standards and interpretations
There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that are expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current 
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Unrecognised items and uncertain events

27. Commitments and Contingencies

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

a. Non-cancellable operating leases
The Group leases various retail shops and office space and certain motor vehicles under non-
cancellable operating leases expiring within one to ten years. These leases have varying terms 
and renewal rights.

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at reporting date 
but not yet recognised as liabilities:
Due not later than one year - 4.9
Due later than one but not later than five years - 9.5
Due later than five years - 0.1

- 14.5

2020 
$m

2019 
$m

b. Estimated capital expenditure contracted at reporting date but not 
provided for

14.1 4.4

The balance predominantly relates to contracts signed with regards to property related works 
and member experience improvement project  (2019: property related development programs 
and customer relationship management product platform replacement project).

c. Credit related commitments 3.9 7.2

This relates to customer loans and leases approved by R.A.C.V. Finance Limited but not drawn at reporting date.

28. Subsequent events
RACV Limited entered into a 50-50 Joint Venture, Home Trades Hub Australia (HTHA), with IAG on 31 August 2020. RACV Limited 
has sold Share of two subsidiaries, Club Home Response Pty Ltd and RACV Security Pty Ltd, to HTHA as part of this Joint Venture 
arrangement. HTHA will be a national business enabling the Group to grow the Home division. Initially this business will comprise 
three business lines, including home security, home insurance repairs and home trades & services.

On 30 July 2020, IMA declared the final dividend relating to the year ended 30 June 2020. RACV has received its share of this 
dividend totalling $26.4 million. The dividend has no impact on the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020.

As the COVID-19 impact continues and the future is still unknown, the Group expects its operations and results to continue to be 
affected in the new financial year. 

In the opinion of the directors, there are no other matters or circumstances which have arisen between 30 June 2020 and the 
date of this report that have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those 
operations and the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years.
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Directors’ 
Declaration

In the directors’ opinion:

a. the attached financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

i. complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements; and

ii. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance, 
for the year ended on that date; and

b. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and

c. at the date of the declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Closed Group identified 
in note 25 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the 
Deed of Cross Guarantee described in note 25.

Note 26(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

On behalf of the Board

G O Cosgriff President and Chairman 

N Taylor Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Melbourne, 30 September 2020

Auditor’s 
Report

Independent auditor’s report to the Members of 
Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Limited2

Our opinion
In our opinion:

The accompanying financial report of Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities 
(together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

a. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial performance for the year then 
ended

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

What we have audited
The Group financial report comprises:

• the consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2020
• the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended
• the consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended
• the consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended
• the consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the year then ended
• the notes to the consolidated Financial Statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies
• the directors’ declaration.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

 

  
PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
2 Riverside Quay, SOUTHBANK  VIC  3006, GPO Box 1331, MELBOURNE  VIC  3001 
T: 61 3 8603 1000, F: 61 3 8603 1999, www.pwc.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Independent auditor’s report 
To the members of Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Ltd 

Our opinion 
In our opinion: 

The accompanying financial report of Royal Automobile Club of Victoria (RACV) Ltd (the Company) 
and its controlled entities (together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

What we have audited 
The Group financial report comprises: 

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2020 
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended 
• the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended 
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant 

accounting policies 
• the directors’ declaration. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
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Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 
Prior to the date of this auditor’s report, the other information we obtained included directors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This description forms part 
of our auditor’s report.

Signature

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Signature

A Linschoten Partner

Melbourne, 30 September 2020

2 The final audit report will be presented on the PricewaterhouseCoopers’s letterhead. 

 

  

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditor's report, the other 
information we obtained was limited to the directors' report. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 
The directors of the Company  are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

  

 

  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor's report. 

 

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

 
Anton Linschoten 

 
 
 

Melbourne 
Partner 30 September 2020 
 

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf


Level 7, 485 Bourke Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Royal Automobile Club of Victoria 
(RACV) Limited 

ABN 44 004 060 833

racv.com.au
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